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Caution in the use and interpretation of these data 
 
This document consists of events data presented in chronological order. It is 
designed to give the reader an insight into the complex drivers at work over 
time, by showing how many events were occurring simultaneously. It is also 
designed to guide future research by serious scholars, who would verify all 
data independently as a matter of sound scholarship and never accept this as 
being valid in its own right. Read together, they indicate a trend, whereas 
read in isolation, they become sterile facts devoid of much meaning. Given 
that they are “facts”, their origin is generally not cited, as a fact belongs to 
nobody. On occasion where an interpretation is made, then the 
commentator’s name is cited as appropriate. Where similar information is 
shown for different dates, it is because some confusion exists on the exact 
detail of that event, so the reader must use caution when interpreting it, 
because a “fact” is something over which no alternate interpretation can be 
given. These events data are considered by the author to be relevant, based on 
his professional experience as a trained researcher. Own judgement must be 
used at all times. All users are urged to verify these data independently. 
The individual selection of data also represents the author’s bias, so the 
dataset must not be regarded as being complete. The reader is strongly 
urged to do additional research before drawing conclusions, using this dataset 
merely as a guide of some known events. Images used in this document are 
from the public domain, unless otherwise noted, so copyright is not being 
claimed by the author. Andrew Charles Turton, my younger brother, is 
thanked for his work in sourcing the Turton genealogical data used in this 
text.  
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1800 
 
8/2/00 Turton Genealogy: Petrus Jacobus Meintjies (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), born to Willem 

Meintjies and Barbara Christina Hanekom is baptized in Waveren. This is a Trekboer family that 
lives though the Xhosa Wars. He participates in the Great Trek because he dies at Slotkraal in 
Kroonstad in 1852 aged 52.   

 
1801 

 
1801 John Barrow, Lord McCartney’s private secretary, publishes a classic book entitled “An Account of 

Travels into the Interior of Southern Africa”. This describes the life of the Trekboers on the outer 
periphery of the Cape Colony. 

 
8/3/01 Turton Genealogy: Joshua Turton (Paternal 4th Great-Grandparent), son of Joshua Turton and Anne 

Smith and baptized in England on 4/7/1744, dies at Horbury and is buried in the Parish of Wakefield, 
Yorkshire County. His wife, Sarah Preston, dies a few days later. Joshua Turton worked as a clothier 
in Horbury. The fact that this whole family has lived at Horbury for more than a generation gives 
some insight into social stability at this time. This fact contextualizes what is about to occur to the 
Turton family as they uproot themselves from England and travel to Port Natal (see 1850).  

 
19/3/01 Turton Genealogy: Sarah Preston (Paternal 4th Great-Grandparent), second wife of Joshua Turton, 

dies shortly after her husband and is buried in the Parish of  Wakefield, Horbury, Yorkshire County.  
 
7/4/01 Turton Genealogy: Sara Aletta Hattingh (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), future wife of Gysbertus 

Van Rooyen, born to Johannes Michiel Hattingh and Sara Aletta Van Der Linde in the Cape, is 
baptized at Graaf Reinet. Both Sara Aletta Hattingh and Gysbertus Van Rooyen go on to participate 
in the Great Trek into the Transvaal (see 15/2/1884 & 11/12/1886). 

 
14/5/01 Turton Genealogy: Richard Clarence (Paternal 3rd Great Grandparent) marries Elizabeth Buck.  
 
25/11/01 Turton Genealogy: Sara Aletta Hattingh (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), future wife of Gysbertus 

Van Rooyen, born to Johannes Michiel Hattingh and Sara Aletta Van Der Linde on 7/4/1801, is 
baptized in Graaf Reinet. Both Sara Aletta Hattingh and Gysbertus Van Rooyen go on to participate 
in the Great Trek (see 15/2/1884 & 11/12/1886). 

 
21/12/01 Turton Genealogy: Helena Dorothea Carelse, future wife of Petrus Johannes Botha (Maternal 3rd 

Great-Grandparent), is baptized in George, Eastern Cape, having been born on an unknown date to 
Johannes Jacobus Carelse and Helena Dorothea Scheepers. In all probability Helena Dorothea Carelse 
and her future husband Petrus Johannes Botha go on to participate in the Great Trek to the Orange 
Free State, because their son Johannes Petrus Botha, is born in the Orange Free State on 7/3/1841. 
It must also be noted that both Johannes Jacobus Carelse and Helena Dorothea Scheepers have 
mothers of similar name (see 5/10/1782). This seems to be a characteristic of the Trekboers where 
small communities lived in isolation for long periods of time with limited opportunity to expand the 
gene pool.  

 
1802 

 
1802 The Treaty of Amiens is signed. One result of this is the restoration of the Cape of Good Hope to the 

Dutch, but not to the House of Orange. The new creation is known as the Batavian Republic and it 
is based on key doctrines linked to the French Revolution. The Treaty of Luneville gives a 
guarantee of French support to the Batavian Republic. This gives rise to the Batavian National 
Assembly based on sentiments of Republicanism. 

 
1802 Britain gains control over Ceylon. 
 
1802 The first white settler establishes a camp in the Kalahari Desert at a dolomite spring called 

Kudumane. The settlers call this place Kuruman and the settler is a missionary called Moffatt, who is 
closely associated with another missionary called David Livingstone.  
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1803 

 
1/03 Jacob Uitenhage de Mist arrives at the Cape in his new capacity as Commissioner General. 
 
5/03 Napoleon decrees that the success of France is predicated on the cooperation of the Dutch. The 

Batavian Republic thus becomes a French vehicle of control. This alarms the British. 
 

1804 
 
13/1/04 Turton Genealogy: Richard Clarence (Paternal Grandfather’s Maternal Grandfather), is born in 

Bermondsey, London to Richard Clarence and Elizabeth Buck. 
 
22/10/04 Turton Genealogy: Aletta Johanna Louisa Sophia De Bruyn, future wife of Louis Hosea Jordaan 

(Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), is born in the Cape Colony to Johannes (Jan) De Bruyn and Aletta 
Johanna (Susanna) Oosthuizen. They go on to marry on 3/1/1819 and together they have one known 
child Gert Johannes Jordaan (born 28/3/1821). They probably go on to participate in the Great Trek 
because the location and dates of death of all of these persons places them out of the Cape Colony in 
areas that are settled by the Great Trek in the correct time frame. 

 
1805 

 
1805 An expedition led by Tulbach H. De Graaf, accompanied by Dr. M.H.K. Lichtenstein, a medical 

doctor and naturalist, notes that the Orange River around present day Prieska is prone to great 
flooding, because they see large trees that had been deposited some fifteen metres above the water 
line (Wilcox, 1986:50-53).  

 
1805 Turton Genealogy: The Reverend Isaac Turton (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandfather), marries Sarah 

Gibson in England at an unknown place but presumably in Leeds, Yorkshire. 
 
12/5/05 Turton Genealogy: Aletta Johanna Louisa Sophia De Bruyn, future wife of Louis Hosea Jordaan 

(Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), is baptized in Graaf Reinet. She probably goes on to participate in 
the Great Trek aged about 31 because the location and dates of death of all of her immediate family 
(future husband and son) places them out of the Cape Colony in areas that are settled by the Great 
Trek. 

 
1806 

 
1/06 A British naval force arrives at the Cape of Good Hope intent on countering Napoleon’s hegemonic 

aspirations. A skirmish takes place with the Khoikhoi Corps of Pandours and a French frigate 
Atlante. The British emerge victorious. 

 
5/2/06 Turton Genealogy: Jacoba Maria Margaretha van der Merwe, future wife of Gerrit (Gert) Schalk 

Van Der Merwe (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), having been born on an unknown date to Gerrit 
(Gert) Van Der Merwe and Maria Margaretha De Bruyn in the Cape Colony, is baptized at Graaf 
Reinet. Given the closeness of the family names, it is possible that Jacoba Maria Margaretha Van Der 
Merwe and her future husband Gerrit (Gert) Schalk Van Der Merwe are related (maybe cousins?). 
There are also indications that they are Trekboers, which could explain this close inter-marriage by 
virtue of the simple absence of viable partners outside of small tightly-knit social groups. 

 
1807 

 
1807 The Abolition of Slavery takes place. This gives rise to a new position in Government known as the 

Protector of Slaves. 
 
5/07 The Civil Governor, Du Pré Alexander (the Earl of Caledon), arrives in the Cape. 
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7/12/07 Turton Genealogy: Josiah Turton (Paternal Great-Great Grandfather) is born in Newcastle-Under-
Lyme, Stafford, England to the Reverend Isaac Turton and his first wife Sarah Gibson. He later 
travels to South Africa on the ship Hebrides and dies in Dundee, Natal on 16/5/1887 having lived 
through the Anglo-Zulu War .  

 
1808 

 
1808 Colonel Richard Collins is appointed as Commissioner for the Eastern Districts. He immediately does 

a threat assessment and develops a plan that is based on farms as the first line of defence. The plan 
sees the Great Fish River becoming the border, with a perimeter of farms that have no cattle on 
them. Cattle would entice the Xhosa to raid so they had to be absent. The small farms had to be arable 
to encourage permanent settlement, the object being the creation of a military buffer zone between the 
Cape Colony and the Xhosa nation. This doctrine is later practiced during the Armed Struggle of the 
20th Century. 

 
1808 The trade in slaves is banned, but the practice itself is not officially abolished until 1834.  
 
1808 Turton Genealogy: Maria Neave, wife of Richard Clarence (Paternal Grandfather’s Maternal 

Grandfather) is born in Gillingham, Dorset, England to parents Edward Neave and Maria Hannah Nn 
(Turton genealogical records). Maria travels to the Cape Colony and dies in Rondebosch on 
12/12/1846 aged about 38. 

 
2/1/08 Turton Genealogy: Susanna Aletta Jacoba Meyer (de Meyer) (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), 

future wife of Petrus Jacobus Meintjies, is born to Olaf Abraham Servaas Meyer and Anna Christina 
Weydeman in the Cape. She is baptized on an undisclosed date at Graaf Reinet. Indications are that 
she is the daughter of a Trekboer, because of the long time delay between her birth and her baptism 
(see 30/10/1815), suggesting that the family had no easy access to a church. They go on to survive the 
Xhosa Wars and then participate in the Great Trek because Petrus Jacobus Meintjies dies in 1852 in 
Slotkraal, Kroonstad and their one daughter, Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies who is born in 
Craddock on 29/12/1828 later dies in Boschfontein, District Rustenburg on 11/4/1909, having lived 
through the Second Anglo-Boer War and the British  Scorched Earth Policy.  

 
24/1/08 Turton Genealogy: Josiah Turton (Paternal Great-Great Grandfather) is baptized in the Lower Street 

Wesleyan Church, Newcastle-Under-Lyme, Stafford, England. 
 
22/5/08 Turton Genealogy: Johannes Jacobus Carelse (Maternal 4th Great Grandparent), having been 

baptized at an unknown location in the Cape on 15/4/1781, dies at an unknown location. His wife, 
Helena Dorothea Scheepers (see 11/8/1799) marries her second husband Johannes Petrus Botha in 
Graaf Reinet on the same date according to records. This seems to be the custom among the 
Trekboer population in this generation, and one can only surmise that the reason is linked to the 
vulnerability of a widow living on the margins of society, combined with the scarcity of contact with 
the Dominee who does a number of tasks when called on to officiate at a funeral, including baptism 
and marriage.  

 
10/08 Fuelled by rumours about an impending emancipation of slaves, there is an uprising. This is the first 

and only uprising among slaves since they were first used in 1657 to boost profits for the VOC. The 
uprising is led by Louis, who is joined by two deserters from the British East India Company 
(James Hooper and Michael Kelly), but is it short lived. The ringleaders are captured and hanged. 

 
7/12/08 Turton Genealogy: Catharina Jacoba Rothenburg (Paternal 6th Great-Grandparent), wife of Godfried 

Gabriel Hauptfleisch, daughter of Otto Wilhelm Rothenburg and Anna Catharina (Katryn) 
Conterman, having been baptized at an unknown location on 11/2/1753, dies in Stellenbosch aged 55.   

 
1809 

 
1809 Colonel Richard Collins travels to the Orange River to familiarize himself with the region. He notes 

that severe drought had led to the destitution of the Bushmen (San) in the Colesberg district. Collins 
also names the one tributary the Caledon River in honour of Governor Caledon (Wilcox, 1986:64).  
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1809 Colonel Collins reports that he has had contact with two Boer Commando leaders, who had killed 

3,200 and 2,700 San people (Bushmen) respectively. 
 
1809 Colonel Collins reports that a defined boundary must be enforced and agrees with the prevailing 

wisdom that the Great Fish River is the most suitable. In the same report he notes the absence of 
Xhosa settlements in the Suurveld.  

 
1/11/09 The Hottentot Proclamation is made, giving rights to the Khoikhoi  people. 
  

1810 
 
25/5/10 Turton Genealogy: Oltman Carel Christiaan Weeber (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), son of 

Martinhus Johannes Weeber and Anna Johanna Wilhelmina Brewes is born at an unknown location, 
but probably in the Cape Province.  

 
1811 

 
1811 William Burchell travels throughout the known territory (between 1811 and 1815), arriving at Prieska 

on the Orange River accompanied by William Anderson. Burchell describes the Orange River in 
great detail, including many drawings. He also catalogues the plants, animals and birds that he 
encounters.  Burchell also describes great drought that caused the river to be so low that he could 
cross it with ease (Burchill [sic], 1967:287, 293).  

 
16/5/11 Circuit courts are introduced to bring justice to the frontiers of the Cape Colony. 
 
9/11 Sir John Craddock arrives at the Cape as Governor. He decides that the colony should become British 

in character as well as in law.  
 
12/11 Landdrost Stockenström is murdered, triggering a retaliatory raid under the command of the Eastern 

Commissioner, Colonel John Graham. This force reports a significant change in the character of 
Xhosa settlements when compared to the 1809 report by Collins. These Xhosa settlements are razed 
to the ground and the Suurveld is cleared. This small military operation becomes a decisive moment 
according to Welsh (2000:199), because it tips the balance of probability away from stable insecurity 
to all out war in the eyes of the Xhosa people. The British are not pleased in London, because Sir 
John Craddock’s job is to defend the Cape from the French navy, not to engage in a messy war with 
the amaXhosa. 

 
1812 

 
1812 The Anglo-American War erupts.  
 
1812 Wellington and the British forces are engaged in a war with the Spanish. A senior officer in 

Wellington’s army is Harry Smith , destined to play a major role in South Africa. After the Siege of 
Badajoz, Harry Smith  “takes” a 14 year old girl by the name of Juana Maria de los Dolores de Leon 
as his wife. She goes on to become Lady Smith after who the town of Ladysmith in Natal is named 
(see 30/10/99). Note: This action gives some insight into the character of the man who is set to have 
such a major impact on South Africa in future (see 5/1835, 12/1847, 1848, 1851 & 1852).  

 
1812 The European winter is particularly severe as a result of an el Nino event, which leaves the summer 

hot and dry, followed by a winter of severe cold and snow. It is this severe weather condition that 
impacts on Napoleon as his army engages and then withdraws from Russia.  

 
1813 

 
8/7/13 Turton Genealogy: Frans Cornelis Jacobus Cloete (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), born at 

Diekantom in the Cape on 17/7/1795, marries Anna Maria Victor in Tulbagh. Indications are that he 
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participates in the Great Trek because he dies at Wildebeesfontein (probably in the Orange Free 
State) on 6/4/1853.  

 
11/12/13 Turton Genealogy: Gerhardus Franciscus (Frans) Mynhardt (Paternal 4th Great-Grandparent), having 

been baptized in Cape Town on 11/2/1787, marries Maria Catharina Roos in Graaf Reinet.  
 

1814 
 
1814 All Governors to the Cape for the next 30 years from 1814 are military men, given the strategic 

significance of the Cape of Good Hope in terms of the newly emerging global balance of power 
between France and Britain. This means that the management of the Cape Colony is answerable to the 
Secretary for War in London and that published accounts are all under the heading of general 
government expenditure rather than revenue streams. 

 
4/14 Lord Charles Somerset, a military commander, is appointed to replace Craddock as Colonial 

Governor to the Cape.  
 
19/4/14 Turton Genealogy: Holland Griffith Raistrick (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) marries Maria 

Kirshaw (Kirkshaw) in Leeds, Yorkshire.  
 
2/5/14 Turton Genealogy: Joachim Jan Hendrik Cloete (brother of my Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent) is 

born to Frans Cornelis Jacobus Cloete and Anna Maria Jacoba Victor at an unknown location in the 
Cape. This name is significant, because it is later given to Joachim Jan Hendrik Cloete, my Maternal 
Great-Grandfather (born on 30/3/1870 in the Orange Free State) but was first used by Joachim Jan 
Hendrik Victor on 20/10/1765.  

 
8/14 The First Abdication of Napoleon Bonaparte occurs, which results in the Netherlands regaining its 

independence with the House of Orange again in power. This forces a strategic re-think about the 
significance of the Cape of Good Hope as an element of British global authority.  

 
29/11/14 Turton Genealogy: Jane Elizabeth Raistrick (wife of Josiah Turton my Paternal Grandfather), is 

baptized in St Peter, Leeds Yorkshire. Her parents are Holland Griffith Raistrick (born 1790) and 
Maria Kirshaw (Kirkshaw) (born 1790). Jane Elizabeth Raistrick dies in Dundee, Natal having lived 
through the Anglo-Zulu War , but more specifically, is buried on the site of the Battle of Talana Hill 
(20/10/1899), which is the first battle of the second Anglo-Boer War. It is unknown whether she 
lives through this battle, or is buried on the battlefield before it occurs. 

 
1815 

 
5/4/15 A volcano known as Mount Tambora located on the Indonesian island of Sumbawa erupts. This is the 

largest known eruption in recorded history, spewing 150 square kilometres of ash with a column 
rising 44-km into the atmosphere, being some 150 times larger than the eruption of Mount St Helens 
in 1980. Ash falls 1,500 km away, with records showing that 1cm of ash falls on Java and Kalimantan 
900-km away. Deaths caused by this eruption include 92,000 killed directly from the blast, 10,000 
killed by bomb impacts from firebrands, and a further 82,000 killed by famine in the immediate area. 
This results in a 2 degree cooling in Europe and North America, becoming known as the Year 
Without Summer as snows fall in June and frost carries on through July and August killing all but 
the most robust of crops. The result of this is massive migration out of Europe, with settlers travelling 
to, amongst other places, the American mid-west. The 1820 Settlers migration should be interpreted 
in this light.  

 
30/10/15 Turton Genealogy: Susanna Aletta Jacoba Meyer (de Meyer) (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), 

future wife of Petrus Jacobus Meintjies, having been born to Olaf Abraham Servaas Meyer and Anna 
Christina Weydeman at an undisclosed location in the Cape on 2/1/1808, gets baptized in Graaf 
Reinet. Indications are that she is the daughter of a Trekboer, because of the long time delay between 
her birth (see 2/1/1808) and her baptism, suggesting that the family had no easy access to a church. 
She goes on to participate in the Great Trek because her future husband Petrus Jacobus Meintjies 
dies in 1852 in Slotkraal, Kroonstad and their one daughter, Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies who 
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is born in Craddock on 29/12/1828, later dies in Boschfontein, District Rustenburg on 11/4/1909 
having lived through the Second Anglo-Boer War and the British  Scorched Earth Policy.  

 
10/11/15 Field Cornet van Wijk reports an increase in the activities of what he calls “vagabonds”. These are 

landless Trekboers who have been reduced through poverty to become Bywoners (squatters), living 
out a meagre existence on the very fringe of economically active society. One such “vagabond” is 
Freek Bezuidenhout, who is arrested for domestic violence. Bezuidenhout resists arrest and in the 
ensuing skirmish, is killed by gunfire. This triggers a localized rebellion, with Bezuidenhout’s brother 
Hans Jan attempting to raise an armed band by inciting Ngqika and his Xhosa warriors to join him in 
this “rebellion”. A skirmish ensues in which Hans Jan Bezuidenhout is killed, but a number of arrests 
are made amongst the so called “rebels”. When placed on trial, sentence is passed. Five of these are 
sentenced to death by hanging. They are taken to Slagtersnek where the ropes break in the case of 4 
out of the 5 convicts. These become known as the Slagtersnek Rebels and their story feeds into 
subsequent Afrikaner folklore.    

 
1816 

 
1816 The Year Without Summer occurs in Europe and North America because of the eruption of Mount 

Tambora on 5/4/1815. This results in massive famine and triggers many migrations.  
 
1816 Two powerful chief’s, Zwide of the Ndwandwe clan, and Dingiswayo of the Mthethwa clan, clash. 

Both chief’s have been centralizing power in the region where the Nguni-speaking clans live south of 
the Phongolo River and north of the uMzimkulu River. One emerging element of this clash is a new 
custom that differs from the traditional Xhosa rite of passage – male circumcision. In this regard the 
emerging culture is increasingly centred on the need for young men to perform years of service before 
they attain the right to be called men. These age-cohorts are called amabutho which goes on to mean 
“regiment” or “corps” as the custom emerges. Over time the attainment of manhood, and with it the 
right to marry, becomes symbolized by the right to wear a headring as the mark of a warrior and 
hence manhood. This custom is a defining feature of the emerging Zulu nation. Zwide introduces a 
new method of close combat which gives his forces a tactical advantage in war. With its roots in the 
Xhosa military doctrine, this is considerably refined and defines the military tactics that are about to 
be unleashed on the neighbouring peoples. One specific advantage of the amabutho system is that it 
welds young men from different clans together in a tightly-knit 
age-cohort that serves to unite the previously divided clans. It is 
this factor that enables the amaZulu to emerge as regional 
hegemons in the opinion of the author.  

 
1816 King Shaka starts to forge a Zulu nation as the amabutho system is 

mainstreamed. Commander of the IziCwe Regiment, Shaka 
develops a tactic known as Izimpondo Zenkhunzi – the horns [and 
chest] of the bull. The horns are the young amabutho – not yet 
blooded in battle but very fit and highly motivated to wet their 
spears with blood and thus attain the right of passage to manhood – 
whose role it is to outflank the enemy and envelop them from the 
sides and behind. The chest of the bull consists of a body of highly 
disciplined and more mature amabutho that form the main axis of 
advance. Their role is to crush the enemy once the younger 
amabutho have panicked them to such an extent that they lose their 
capacity for coordinated defence. Shaka refines this tactic to a high 
level of precision and it becomes the defining feature of emerging 
Zulu invincibility. (Image of a Zulu warrior reproduced with the 
courtesy of the Wikipedia Commons).  

 
1816 Having consolidated his power, King Shaka launches what becomes known as the Mfecane (which 

means to be “crushed in Total War ” in the language of the perpetrator) in which the hinterland of the 
country is systematically subjugated. (See reference to the concept of Mbokotho – the rock that 
crushes – and its political/military connotations in KwaNdebele from 1/1986 onwards (Mbokotho 
Vigilante Group)). 
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1816 Victims call this Difaqane (which in seSotho means “forced migration” or to be “crushed”). Warriors 

are not allowed to marry until they had wet their spears in blood. They have the custom of 
disembowelling their victims and drinking the contents of the gall bladder to gain the strength of the 
deceased, in a process called Mcqambula. These disembowelled corpses do not decompose in the hot 
dry air and turns into mummies instead. Trekboers moving into this devastated wasteland report 
seeing these mummified corpses. This process spreads ever further from Zululand as the Zulu nation 
becomes stronger, more coherent and better mobilized. 

 
1817 

 
1817 In a military clash with Zwide of the Ndwandwe clan, Shaka’s forces kill Dingiswayo. This weakens 

the Zwide who are subjugated three years later.  
 
2/4/17 Lord Charles Somerset attempts a diplomatic solution to the Xhosa “problem”, by negotiating with 

both Ngqika and his uncle and arch-rival Ndlambe simultaneously. Macoma, still a small boy, is at 
this conference. This provides early evidence of British military dithering that is set to become a 
hallmark of this century in South Africa. According to Welsh (2000:123), Ngqika sees this as a way 
to forge an alliance to crush his rival Ndlambe, who is pushed in turn to the more brutal solution of 
violent opposition with the intention of totally exterminating the European settlers as a type of final 
solution. This takes the Xhosa closer to Total War .  

 
1818 

 
1818 Civil war erupts within the Xhosa clans, with the main forces being driven by Ngqika and Ndlambe. 

At the Battle of Amalinde a large number of warriors are killed, resulting in the near destruction of 
Ngqika’s forces. This alarms the British as they see Ngqika as the better of the two options, so they 
commit a military force under the command of Colonel Thomas Brereton in an attempt to shore up 
Ngqika. Welsh (2000:124) is of the opinion that this military expedition tips the balance away from a 
sustainable solution, because it brings back many thousand cattle, reducing Ndlambe’s forces to the 
utter desperation of Total War . 

 
8/3/18 Turton Genealogy: Stephanus Gerhardus Griessel (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), marries 

Hendrina Johanna Adriana Vermeulen in Graaf Reinet. They participate in the Great Trek because 
he dies at Fauresmith (between Bloemfontein and Kimberley) in the Orange Free State on 
10/7/1862, and their daughter Hendrina Johanna Adriana Griessel who is born 9/1834 in the Cape 
Colony, dies on 30/8/1923 in Edenburg (near Bloemfontein) in the Orange Free State.  

 
23/6/18 Turton Genealogy: Aletta Geertruida Engelbrecht, future wife of Francois Cornelis Joachim Cloete 

(Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) is born to Barend Jacobus Engelbrecht and Elizabeth (Elsie) 
Johanna Erasmus and baptized in Graaf Reinet in the Cape Colony. She presumably dies after the 
birth of their son Frans Cornelis Jacobus Cloete (date and place unknown), because Francois Cornelis 
Joachim Cloete goes on to marry Susanna Sophia Wilhelmina Keiser and Catharina Elizabeth 
Fransina Viljoen. This gives an indication into longevity at the time (Turton, 2004). 

 
19/7/18 Turton Genealogy: Aletta Geertruida Engelbrecht, future wife of Francois Cornelis Joachim Cloete 

(Maternal 3Rd Great-Grandparent) is baptized at Graaf Reinet, Cape Colony. 
 

1819 
 
3/1/19 Turton Genealogy: Louis Hosea Jordaan (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), marries Aletta Johanna 

Louisa Sophia De Bruyn at an unknown place, but known to be the Cape Colony, probably around 
Graaf Reinet or Craddock. Together they have one known child Gert Johannes Jordaan (born 
28/3/1821) and they probably participate in the Great Trek because the location and dates of death of 
all of these persons places them out of the Cape Colony in areas that are settled by the Great Trek. 

 
22/4/19 A force of 10,000 Xhosa warriors attack Graham’s Town (Grahamstown). The Boers vigorously 

defend themselves with the support of British and Khoikhoi  troops. In a follow-up pursuit, the Xhosa 
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are chased to the kraal of Hintsa, the Paramount Chief. This results in the collapse of the Ndlambe 
alliance.   

 
7/19 In post-war Britain, the Government is keen to stimulate the economy and create employment. 

Chancellor Nicholas Vansittart announces a plan to provide government aid to settlers wishing to 
immigrate to the Cape of Good Hope. This gives rise to the 1820 Settlers.  

 
10/19 Lord Somerset, keen to consolidate the victory and stabilize the situation, enters into a verbal treaty 

with Ngqika, even in his depleted state considered to be the key Xhosa leader. Being verbal differing 
interpretations are made and this opens a Pandora’s Box in the future.  

 
11/19 A Khoikhoi  woman by the name of Saartje Baartman, also known as the Hottentot Venus, is put 

on display in London. She becomes the second Khoikhoi  person to be sent to London after Coree 
was kidnapped in 1613. This display outrages many people and becomes the subject of a High Court 
action led by the Reformer Zachary Macaulay. Saartje Baartman’s remains are only returned to 
South Africa after the democratic elections in 1994 at which time negotiations are started with the 
French government, who had by then taken over the custodial role of those remains. 

 
1820 

 
1820 In the final battle for control over the Zulu nation, Shaka decimates the Zwide clan, thereby 

consolidating his hegemony over the Zulu-speaking people. This act of consolidation of power turns 
Shaka and his Zulu impi’s outwards in a regional expansion of power. Central to this is the notion of 
Total War  with all men being killed and women being subjugated and assimilated into the Zulu 
nation to become mothers of the next generation of warriors. Some authors describe Shaka as an 
African version of Genghis Khan, Alfred the Great and Napoleon. The Stuart Archive, containing 
first-hand accounts, describes Shaka as a “tyrant, a marauder, a destroyer and a madman … a wild 
beast” (Welsh, 2000:138). This is known as the Mfecane and it impacts on South Africa for more 
than a century, but ironically is seldom spoken of in contemporary conversation or literature.    

 
1820  Tens of thousands of impoverished British citizens take advantage of the offer being made by the 

government and apply to be re-settled in the Cape of Good Hope (see Year Without Summer in 
1816). Around 2,000 people arrive at Algoa Bay where they are welcomed on land as the 1820 
Settlers. This changes the structure of society in the Cape Colony overnight because of the rapid 
influx of so many people with such a fundamentally different world view to that of the existing 
settlers and Trekboers. Of these new arrivals, 542 heads of family are described in official records as 
being ‘agriculturists’, 72 are shopkeeper’s and 337 are trained artisans. They are given plots of land 
100 acres in extent and granted a lease to be validated after 3 years. 

 
1820 The Bastaards (Khoikhoi  that have been mixed with European blood), are renamed the Griqua people 

and Andries Waterboer is appointed as their Chief. A renegade group of Bastaards known as the 
Bergenaars (mountain people) eke out a livelihood by preying on the scattered Sotho and Tswana 
victims of the Mfecane. Another Bastaard sub-group of the Griquas is led by Jager Afrikaner, which 
becomes notorious by leading a predatory life, attacking isolated settlements along both banks of the 
Orange River.  

 
3/4/20 Turton Genealogy: Gysbertus Van Rooyen (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent) originally from 

Grahamstown, marries Sara Aletta Hattingh in Craddock. Both participate in the Great Trek because 
he dies on 15/2/1884 at Bosfontein, District Rustenburg at the age of 85 and their one son Gysbert 
Van Rooyen is born in Grahamstown in 1828 and he dies on 11/12/1886 in Roodekrans (Waterberg), 
District Rustenburg.  

 
6/5/20 Turton Genealogy: Gysbert Roos (Maternal 6th Great-Grandparent), son of Johannes (Hans) Roos 

and Johanna Visser baptized on 21/9/1732 in Graaf Reinet, dies at an unknown location aged 87. 
Indications are that this is a Trekboer family. 
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1821 
 
7/1/21 Turton Genealogy: Petrus Johannes Botha (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), marries Helena 

Dorothea Carelse in George, Eastern Cape. In all probability they go on to participate in the Great 
Trek to the Orange Free State, because their son Johannes Petrus Botha, born in the Orange Free 
State on 7/3/1841, dies on 28/1/1881 in Laingsnek, Natal. (See Second Anglo-Boer War reference 
to Laingsnek on 19/5/1900). 

 
28/3/21 Turton Genealogy: Gert Johannes Jordaan (Maternal Great-Great Grandfather) is born in the Cape 

Colony to Louis Hosea Jordaan and Aletta Johanna Louisa Sophia De Bruyn.  
 
17/6/21 Turton Genealogy: Gert Johannes Jordaan (Maternal Great-Great Grandfather) is baptized in 

Craddock. 
 
28/7/21 Turton Genealogy: Francois Cornelis Joachim Cloete (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) is born in 

the Cape Colony to Frans Cornelis Jacobus Cloete and Anna Maria Jacoba Victor. He goes on to 
migrate to Natal in a group of settlers that move either during or immediately after the Great Trek, 
because he dies on 11/5/1876 at Daspoort, District Wepener.  

 
1822 

 
27/1/22 Turton Genealogy: Francois Cornelis Joachim Cloete (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) is baptized 

at Graaf Reinet in the Cape Colony. He goes on to migrate to Natal in a group of settlers that move 
after the Great Trek, because he dies on 11/5/1876 at Daspoort, District Wepener.  

 
1823 

 
1823 Of the 1,004 families originally given plots of land among the 1820 Settlers, only 438 are still on 

their land. The rest have moved off the land for a variety of reasons, one being the uneconomic nature 
of the small size, but another being the insecurity of what is known as “the Border”. 

 
1823 Two missionaries, Hodgson and Broadbent, travel along the Orange River. A short while later a third 

missionary, James Archbell, also travelling along the Orange River, notes that indigenous people find 
diamonds along the river (Wilcox, 1986:66-85).  

 
1823 George Thompson travels along the Orange River and describes the Augrabies Falls, which he calls 

King George’s Cataract (Wilcox, 1986:66).  
 
14/4/23 Turton Genealogy: Petrus Jacobus Meintjies (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), baptized in Waveren 

on 8/2/1800, marries Susanna Aletta Jacoba Meyer (de Meyer) in Craddock. They go on to participate 
in the Great Trek because Petrus Jacobus Meintjies dies in 1852 in Slotkraal, Kroonstad and their 
one daughter, Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies who is born in Craddock on 29/12/1828 later dies in 
Boschfontein, District Rustenburg on 11/4/1909 having lived through the Second Anglo-Boer War 
and the British  Scorched Earth Policy.  

 
2/5/23 Turton Genealogy: Anna Margaretha Mynhardt, future wife of Oltman Carel Christiaan Weeber 

(Paternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) is born, probably in the Beaufort West area to Gerhardus Franciscus 
(Frans) Mynhardt and Maria Catharina Roos. This is a Trekboer family.  

 
1824 

 
1824 A group of British traders, under the leadership of a naval officer named Francis Farwell, negotiate 

permission from Shaka to establish Port Natal as a trading post. This brings the British into direct 
contact with Shaka. Once established, Port Natal immediately becomes the home to Francis Owen 
of the Anglican Missionary Society. In an effort to raise the significance of Port Natal, and hopefully 
to get it upgraded to a British outpost, the name is changed to Durban in honour of Sir Benjamin 
D’Urban. The British Colonial Office is unimpressed, with little desire to establish yet another colony 
when the Cape Colony is already proving to be too large and expansive to administer profitably. So 
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the tiny settlement of Durban clings on to a precarious existence, surviving in a sea of hostile Zulu’s 
by the grace and goodwill of an angry and unpredictable leader by the name of Shaka. It is into this 
setting of heightened tension that the Turton family eventually immigrates in 1850, a far cry from the 
apparent tranquillity of their village life back in England.  

 
11/2/24 Turton Genealogy: Anna Margaretha Mynhardt, future wife of Oltman Carel Christiaan Weeber 

(Paternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), is baptized in Beaufort West. This is a Trekboer family so they 
probably come in to Beaufort West for the baptism during Nachtmaal.  

 
26/11/24 Turton Genealogy: Johanna Catharina Kruger (Maternal 6th Great-Grandparent), wife of Jacob 

Cloete (15/4/1759), born in 25/3/1742, mother of Gerrit Cloete (see 21/9/1760) dies in Worcester just 
before the Great Trek at the age of 82. This is a Trekboer family.  

 
1825 

 
1825 Swarms of locusts exacerbate the drought along the Orange River. This drives farmers to find 

alternative grazing for their stricken animals across the river.  
 

1826 
 
1826 Unexpected rainfall allows the farmers who had migrated across the Orange River as an emergency 

measure to return to their original lands. This illustrates the advantage of a mobile lifestyle, such as 
that practiced by the Trekboers, under conditions of extreme climatic uncertainty.   

 
30/3/26 Turton Genealogy: Richard Clarence (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) dies aged 66 (ancestral file 

4KNK-T1), at an unknown location but probably Hooley in Exeter or Surrey.  
 

1828 
 
1828 The Mfecane ends when Shaka is assassinated by his half-brother Dingane, but the hinterland is 

severely depopulated in what in modern jargon would be described as Ethnic Cleansing. By this time 
the Zulu nation has occupied the land between the Umzimkulu and Phongolo Rivers, with a 
depopulated area on the hinterland between the Umzimkulu and the Thukela Rivers. Welsh 
(2000:140) describes the Mfecane as leaving, “a generation of homeless refugees … doomed to 
wander about South Africa seeking temporary refuge and food, but being driven to cannibalism and 
starvation. The passage of such armies led to widespread devastation. European writers spoke of 
travelling for days through a deserted countryside past the scattered bones of the dead. Into the 
geographical void left by the killing and dispossession moved the … [Trekboers], the pioneers of 
what became the Afrikaner republic’s”.  

 
1828 In an assessment of the Mfecane, Welsh (2000:139) notes that the defeated migrated in many 

different directions. Soshangane, a commander of Zwide, migrates to Delagoa Bay (Maputo) where 
he becomes a hegemon in what later becomes Mozambique and founding father of the Shangaan. The 
amaShangane (the people of Soshangane) go on to subjugate the Tsonga, Portuguese, Shona and 
Boers. Zwangendaba, another of Zwide’s vanquished commanders, joins forces with some subjugated 
Swazi’s and migrates into central Southern Africa where he clashes with the Shona, Swazi, Tonga, 
Sotho and Kalmaga, settling in what is present day Malawi and Tanzania as the Ngoni people. 
Zwide’s own grandson, Mzilikazi, after a temporary unity with Shaka, breaks away and forms the 
Ndebele people (also known as the Matabele in present day Zimbabwe) (refer to the political violence 
in KwaNdebele from 1985 onwards for an assessment of the relevance of this). Sobhuza, an early 
victim of Zwide, becomes the father of the Swazi nation. A great diplomat and peacemaker, he 
brokers a stable peace with both Shaka and Soshangane (one of the topics the author was initially 
interested in as a possible subject for a PhD). Matiwane, chief of the Ngwane clan, having been 
decimated first by Zwide, and later by Shaka, leads his shattered and traumatized people on a 
meandering migration that earns him the name of  “he who reddens his mouth by drinking the blood 
of men” (Welsh, 2000:145). The Mpondo migrate south to find refuge with the Xhosa (see details in 
11/85, 5/11/85, 25/12/85, 1/86 and 22/1/86 for modern manifestations of this). One group become 
known as the Mfengu – the dispossessed – and find a refuge under British rule around Graham’s 
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Town where their name is anglicized as the Fingoe, and they rapidly adapt by taking on Western 
(European) customs. Yet another group of refugees becomes known as the Bhaca – the homeless 
ones – and adopt an aggressive lifestyle among the Xhosa under the leadership of Madzikane (son of 
Ncaphyi) alongside the Mpondo and the Thembu (the clan that eventually gives rise to a Prince 
called Nelson Rolihlahla Mandela).  

 
1828 Welsh (2000:179) refers to an enquiry that is carried out after the Mfecane, which indicates that of 

the 94 tribes that had occupied the territory before Shaka came to power, 50 had been destroyed or 
dispersed, with 20 moving on to other regions of Africa, at the end of hostilities. This gives an 
indication of the magnitude of the event, which ironically does not feature in contemporary debate in 
South Africa.  Note: A similar thing has been witnessed by the author in Rwanda where the genocide 
is simply not spoken of in “polite” company among Rwandese today. It is almost as if the horrors are 
too great for ordinary people to comprehend, so one deals with this by pretending it never happened 
instead, or by simply denying the event ever took place by not writing about it.   

 
1828 Charles Mitchell is appointed as Surveyor General in an effort to move the backlog of land claims by 

European farmers. Between 1828 and 1834 residents in the various frontier districts of the Cape 
Colony (Craddock, Colesberg, Graaf-Reinet, Somerset and Albany) only receive title to 1,432,000 
acres of land – this in a geographic space the size of England. Welsh (2000:152) notes that in Graaf-
Reinet alone, only one land title had been formalized in this entire period of 1828 to 1834. This is a 
major grievance of the Trekboers and becomes one of the drivers of the subsequent Great Trek.  

 
1828 The British colonial boundary is shifted northwards to the Orange River. 
 
1828 Turton Genealogy: Francois Philippus Jacobus Vilonel (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) is born in 

Beaufort West, Cape Colony to Francois Philippus Jacobus Vilonel and Dorothea Adriana du Plessis 
(du Pres). He goes on to participate in the Great Trek because he dies in Edenburg Orange Free 
State on 24/10/1875.  

 
1828 Turton Genealogy: Gysbert Van Rooyen (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), is born in Grahamstown 

to Gysbertus Van Rooyen and Sara Aletta Hattingh. This locates him physically at both the place and 
time of origin of one of the main elements of the Great Trek, a fact reinforced by the evidence that 
his death on 11/12/1886 takes place at Roodekrans, in the Waterberg District of Rustenburg, 
Transvaal. (See also Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies, his future wife, who is baptized on 
1/2/1829 at Craddock, is married on 6/6/1847 in Craddock and dies on 11/4/1909 in the Boschfontein 
District of Rustenburg, Transvaal). However, when examining both the place and date of his 
marriage (6/6/1847 in Craddock) it becomes clear that he probably moved inland in the first wave of 
settlers immediately after the Great Trek.  It is evident that Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies lived 
through the Second Anglo-Boer War and the British  Scorched Earth Policy.  

 
1828 Turton Genealogy: Francois Philippus Jacobus Vilonel (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) is born in 

Beaufort West, Cape Colony, to Francois Philippus Jacobus Vilonel and Dorethea Adriana du Plessis 
(du Pres). He goes on to participate in the movement of people into the Orange Free State, 
immediately after the Great Trek, because he dies aged 47 on 24/10/1975 in Edenburg, Orange Free 
State, and his wife Hendrina Johanna Adriana Griessel is born in the Cape Colony on 9/1834 and is 
thus too young to participate in the Great Trek as a married woman (unless she migrated as a child 
and married in the Orange Free State). 

 
8/1/28 Turton Genealogy: Sarah Gibson, first wife of the Reverend Isaac Turton (Paternal 3rd Great-

Grandfather) dies at Chapel House in England at the age of 53. 
 
12/1/28 Turton Genealogy: Sarah Gibson, first wife of the Reverend Isaac Turton (Paternal 3rd Great-

Grandfather) is buried in the Leeds Old Chapel Wesley Methodist Church Cemetery.  
 
5/8/28 Turton Genealogy: Maria Margaretha Van Der Merwe (Maternal Great-Great-Grandparent), is born 

at an unknown place in the Cape Colony to Gerrit (Gert) Schalk Van Der Merwe and Jacoba Maria 
Margaretha Van Der Merwe (possibly cousins and probably Trekboers). She is baptized at an 
unknown date at Craddock.  
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29/12/28 Turton Genealogy: Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies, future wife of Gysbert Van Rooyen 

(Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), is born in Craddock to Petrus Jacobus Meintjies and Susanna 
Aletta Jacoba Meyer (de Meyer). Given that they get married at Craddock on 6/6/1847 and they both 
go on to die at Rustenburg (11/12/1886 and 11/4/1909) Transvaal, indicates that they moved inland 
in the first wave of settlers after the Great Trek. It is evident that Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies 
lived through the Second Anglo-Boer War and the British  Scorched Earth Policy.  

 
1830 

 
1830  In an attempt to open up the communication routes with the hinterland, and thereby stimulate trade 

over a larger area of the Cape, Sir Lowry’s Pass becomes one of the first major pieces of 
infrastructure to be engineered.  

 
1830 Ngqika, now dead, leaves a son by the name of Macoma, who is forced by his people to seek a 

lasting definition of the frontier after the devastation of a protracted period of Total War . The 
Rharhabe Xhosa, now no longer labouring under the fallout of the protracted power struggle 
between Ngqika and Ndlambe, are forced into a form of national unity, by the twin drivers of the 
Mfecane and British colonial expansion (specifically the impact of the 1820 Settlers). The drums of 
war beat again and the Xhosa nation, now united, stirs once more.   

 
1830 Turton Genealogy: The Reverend Isaac Turton (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandfather) marries Ann 

Cowper, his second wife after the death of Sarah Gibson (on 8/1/28). Ann Cowper is born in 1791 
and dies in 1833 aged 42.  

 
1832 

 
1832 The Great Reform Act is passed in Britain. This becomes a watershed in constitutional law and 

heralds in a process of democracy in the colonies.  
 
1832 Dr. Andrew Smith is despatched to visit Dingane (also known in some literature as Dingaan), the 

Zulu successor of King Shaka, with a view to determining his disposition. His report, once 
published, documents his travels from what is now called Grahamstown to Zululand, attracting 
considerable public interest as the early Great Trek sentiments take root in the Eastern Cape. Smith 
reports wide open spaces, good land and few people in the post-Mfecane era. 

 
15/3/32 Turton Genealogy: Josiah Turton (Paternal Great-Great Grandfather) marries Jane Elizabeth 

Raistrick in St Peters Wesleyan Methodist Church in Leeds County, Yorkshire, England. Elizabeth 
Raistrick goes on to die in Dundee and is buried in “Vryheid near the coalfield and base of the 
mountain Talana” having lived through the Anglo-Zulu War , but more specifically, is buried on the 
site of the Battle of Talana Hill (20/10/1899), which is the first battle of the second Anglo-Boer 
War . It is unknown whether she lives through this battle, or is buried on the battlefield before it 
occurs. 

 
1833 

 
1833 Turton Genealogy: Ann Cowper, second wife after the death of Sarah Gibson (on 8/1/28) to the 

Reverend Isaac Turton (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandfather), dies in England aged 42. This means that 
Isaac Turton loses two wives in relatively quick succession and reflects the details given in his eulogy 
(see 13/4/1851). 

 
1834 

 
1834 Piet Uys leads a reconnaissance expedition into the areas depopulated by the Mfecane and reports 

back saying that there is plenty of land. 
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1834 A printing press under the management of a highly zealous man by the name of Robert Godlonton, an 
energetic Methodist, starts a newspaper called the Graham’s Town Journal. This becomes a 
mouthpiece for the white settler population, encouraging more extreme views over time. 

 
1834 A Constitution based on a classic Crown Colonial model, with both an Executive and a Legislative 

Council, is established.  
 
1834 The Emancipation of Slaves is proclaimed. This injects a large amount of cash into the economy as 

slave owners are compensated by government for their financial loss caused by emancipation.  
 
1834 The Sixth Xhosa War starts in the Eastern Cape. This is driven by the economic hardship that 

incoming refugees from the Mfecane had caused to the Xhosa, who mostly agreed to accept these 
people, but whose resources are now being depleted. A major drought exacerbates this food shortage 
according to Welsh (2000:153), and becomes a contributing factor, if not a direct driver of the war. 

 
9/34 Turton Genealogy: Hendrina Johanna Adriana Griessel, future wife of Francois Philippus Jacobus 

Vilonel (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) is born in the Cape Colony, to Stephanus Gerhardus 
Griessel and Hendrina Johanna Adriana Vermeulen. She goes on to participate in the movement of 
people into the Orange Free State, either during or after the Great Trek, because she dies aged 89 
on 30/10/1923 in Edenburg near Bloemfontein, Orange Free State. 

 
10/10/34 Turton Genealogy: Aletta Johanna (Susanna) Oosthuizen (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), wife of 

Johannes (Jan) De Bruyn, dies at an unknown location in the Cape aged 59.  
 
21/12/34 A Xhosa force under the command of Macoma, invade the eastern frontier of the British Colony. 

This becomes a bloody and protracted battle that eventually brings the eastern Gcaleka Xhosa into 
direct confrontation with the might of British Imperial Power according to Welsh (2000:157).  

 
25/12/34 A force of 10,000 Xhosa warriors surges across the Keiskamma River, leaving a swathe of 

destruction before them. This is a Total War  so all “settlers” are killed, homesteads razed to the 
ground and tens of thousands of cattle are taken back to the Xhosa settlements. (Note: It is against 
this primordial cultural memory handed down to the descendents of the original White “settlers” that 
sensitivities about “one settler one bullet” must be assessed – see 25/6/1998).  

 
1835 

 
1835 The Sixth Xhosa War ends. The result of this war is massive destruction of the livelihoods of the 

Boer farmers in the area. 
 
1835 The British Colonial Office is alarmed at recent developments between Europe and the America’s that 

might lead to expansionist tendencies along the coastal regions of Southern Africa. Admiral Campbell 
reports that it is not inconceivable that the United States of America might be considering the 
establishment of a settlement on the east coast of Africa, which would be less than beneficial to 
British interests.   

 
1835 Melbourne, Australia is founded. This goes on to attract more settlers to it in the next seventeen years 

that the Cape had since its founding in 1652. This is an indication that the Cape was not a preferred 
destination for would-be immigrants, because of the inherent insecurity of the place.  

 
1835 The first group of European traders start to do business with the Batswana people at Shoshong in 

present day Botswana. 
 
1835 The first group of what later becomes known as the Great Trek, under the dual leadership of Hans 

van Rensburg and Louis Tregardt (also referred to as Trichardt), departs from the Eastern Cape. The 
group splits, with van Rensburg turning south, only to be decimated by a Zulu force before it reaches 
its planned destination. Trichardt leads his group north to what becomes known as the town of Louis 
Trichardt, but bad health befalls his party, so they move on to Delagoa Bay (Maputo), by which time 



How many bones must you bury before you can call yourself an African?  
Updated February 2009 

 

 
© Anthony Richard Turton 2009 (except for public domain images individually acknowledged) 

~ 15�~�
 

his original party of over 100 people had been whittled down to 28 survivors with the leader among 
the dead. (Map reproduced through the courtesy of the Wikipedia Commons).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1835 The second group of the Great Trek, under the leadership of Hendrik Potgieter and Gert Maritz, 

depart from the Western Cape. This group has few skilled people in it and the Trek does not have the 
blessing of Tobias Herold, the minister in Stellenbosch. Made up predominantly of stock farmers and 
herdsmen (Trekboers), the religious persuasion was mostly of the Dopper Kerk, a fundamentalist 
branch that was opposed to the singing of hymns and orthodox Calvinism. Their target is to reach the 
land beyond the Soutpansberg Mountains and settle in the fertile Highveld, known to have been 
depopulated by the Mfecane.  

 
29/3/35 Turton Genealogy: Johann Friederich Wilhelm Theodor Pistorius (Paternal Great-Great 

Grandfather) is born in Tondorf, Germany to Friederich Heindrich Pistorius and Augusta Frederika 
Bernadina von Landsberg and travels to the Cape Province with his parents on the ship Cape Packet 
in 1842. This is the origin of my Paternal Grandmother’s paternal family.  

 
5/35 A peace conference is held between the British commander Colonel Harry Smith (see 1812), and the 

vanquished chief Xhosa Hintsa. Negotiations are complicated when a group of 20,000 Fingoes 
suddenly arrive, claiming British succour for fear of yet another slaughter of their people, the recent 
horrors of the Mfecane still fresh in their minds. Sir Benjamin D’Urban agrees to give them land in 
the expanded Cape Colony. This has future implications because the land he decides to settle them on 
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is not yet in the British Colony and therefore needs to be annexed. This becomes known as Queen 
Adelaide’s Land (named after the wife of King William IV) which goes on to have significance to the 
Armed Struggle of the 20th  Century (note the reference to the White Corridor  that is central to 
Operation Katzen in the 1980’s – see 12/87 specifically). The peace negotiations resume once the 
Fingoe issue has been resolved. The British demand as reparation, 50,000 cattle and 10,000 horses 
from Hintsa. Knowing that these demands are excessive and that he will be unable to meet them 
while still keeping his people alive, Hintsa agrees and then escapes. A small force is despatched to 
track Hintsa down and he is killed in an incident that becomes Xhosa folklore. A local volunteer, 
George Southey, mutilates the dead body of Hintsa, which is considered by the Xhosa people to be a 
profound insult to them as a nation. This sows the seeds for future mistrust and hatred between the 
Xhosa and the British settlers, still felt in the author’s generation at the time of writing.  

 
5/35 Sir Benjamin D’Urban annoys the British Colonial Office by stating that the Xhosa people are 

“irreclaimable savages” that should be met through a policy with an objective of “exterminating 
them”. This flies in the face of emerging British libertarianism, so D’Urban’s views are greeted with 
considerable alarm in London, but it inflames Xhosa opinion (see 2/1878). This racial insensitivity 
still exists in some circles at the time of writing.  

  
7/35 The survivors of the Trichardt Trek are rescued by a British ship the Mazeppa.  
 
10/12/35 Turton Genealogy: Jabez Turton (Paternal Great-Grandfather) is baptized at St Peter’s Church in 

Leeds, Yorkshire, son of Josiah Turton and Jane Elizabeth Raistrick. He accompanies his family out 
to South Africa on the ship Hebrides arriving around 1850. 

 
1836 

 
4/1/36 Turton Genealogy: Cornelis Johannes Van Rooyen (Maternal 5th Great-Grandparent), having been 

baptized at an unknown location in the Cape on 16/3/1755, dies at Glen Avon, Somerset West aged 
80. Indications are that he had been a Trekboer.  His son, Gysbertus Van Rooyen participates in the 
Great Trek, because he is baptized in Grahamstown on 9/11/1798 and dies at Bosfontein, 
Rustenburg District on 15/2/1884.  

 
18/1/36 Turton Genealogy: Catharina Maria Grobler (subsequent wife of Johann Friedrich Wilhelm Theodor 

Pistorius (Paternal Great-Great Grandfather)), is baptized in Craddock. It is likely that she participates 
in the Great Trek along with her immediate family, but exact details of this are unknown. 

 
2/36 The Potgieter Trek crosses the Orange River, so with no news yet of the fate of the Trichardt Trek , 

they settle around the Vaal River. Once they settle, Potgieter leads a small reconnaissance party to 
explore up to the Limpopo River, with a view to finding better places to settle. While Potgieter is 
away, the Ndebele attack his camps on the 
Vaal River. The survivors set up a defence 
at Vegkop, south of Heilbron. During an 
ensuing skirmish in which the Boers are 
outnumbered by more than 100:1, they beat 
off the attacking Ndebele’s with the loss of 
only 2 of their own men, at what becomes 
known as the Battle of Vegkop. However, 
they lose all their cattle and are thus 
impoverished. (Image of some Trekboers 
crossing a river reproduced through the 
courtesy of the Wikipedia Commons).  

 
10/36 The British Colonial Office terminate D’Urban’s agreement to establish Queen Adelaide’s Land, and 

give instructions to return the land to the Xhosa people.  
 
23/12/36 Turton Genealogy: Willem Meintjies (Maternal 5th Great-Grandparent), son of Johannes Meintjies 

and Jacoba Van Wijk, born in Waveren on 19/3/58, dies at Rietvallei, Great Fish River. He thus lives 
though the Xhosa Wars and dies at the time that the Great Trek is starting to happen, but he does 
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not participate in that event. He is probably a Trekboer but indications are that his parents were not 
(see 5/9/1788) because of their relative lack of known mobility during their lifetime. His son, Petrus 
Jacobus Meintjies, does participate in the Great Trek however, as he is baptized on 8/2/1800 in 
Waveren and dies in 1852 in Slotkraal, Kroonstad, Orange Free State.  

 
1837 

 
1/37 A joint Boer-Griqua-Rolong commando under the command of Hendrik Potgieter, attacks an Ndebele 

encampment in retaliation for their earlier hostilities, making off with a large number of cattle in 
compensation for those lost at the Battle of Vegkop (see 2/1836). 

 
2/37 Piet Retief, a respected Boer leader fluent in both English and Dutch, publishes his Manifesto. 

Central to this is the argument that the British seem incapable of developing a policy that will bring 
peace and security to the Eastern Cape, so the only viable option is to move out of the Cape Colony 
and settle elsewhere. This is another example of British military dithering.  

 
4/37 The Retief Trek arrives in Thaba Nchu, where it marries up with the remnants of the Potgieter Trek, 

consisting of survivors of the Ndebele raid on their settlements along the Vaal River. 
 
7/37 An American missionary by the name of Daniel Lindley arrives in time to meet Piet Retief and 

translate his letter to Dingane into isiZulu. Lindley is deeply respected by the Voortrekker’s  for a 
number of reasons. Firstly, as a people, the Trekboers had become suspicious of British missionaries 
during the last days of their lives in the Cape Colony, but this man was an American and therefore 
different. Secondly, Lindley had grown up in the American West and was an accomplished shot and 
horseman. Thirdly, the Voortrekker  columns needed ministers of religion because these were in 
short supply.  

 
9/37 The combined Retief and Potgieter Trek depart Thaba Nchu in search of Mzilikazi, with whom they 

wish to settle a score. After a battle lasting 9 days, they return with an enormous herd of captured 
cattle. This combined trek is about 2,000 strong at this stage, and modifies its planned destination of 
the Soutpansberg Mountains, deciding instead to head for the green pastures of Natal and the lands 
depopulated by the Mfecane. The American missionary Daniel Lindley starts to work with the 
remnants of Mzilikazi’s people after this battle. Note: Lindleyspoort is named after this man. It is 
here that my own father Clarence Stanley Turton is later born on 25/1/1921.  

 
10/37 Piet Retief leads an advance party of six Boers through Natal to Port Natal. After a good reception by 

the local traders in Port Natal, Retief leads his advance party to a meeting with Dingane, with the 
intention of paying his respects and negotiating an agreement of safe passage consistent with the 
Retief Manifesto. Dingane receives Retief well, being impressed by the way that he had dealt with 
Mzilikazi a month earlier. Dingane decides to test Retief further, presumably to determine whether he 
would make a reliable ally (or possibly just to postpone the need to make a decision about Retief’s 
request for permission to settle in the depopulated areas around the Thukela River as suggested by 
David Ratray), so he asks him to recover 1,000 cattle lost to Sikonyela in an earlier skirmish. To his 
later surprise, Retief does this admirably and in a relatively short time (see 2/1838).  

 
1838 

 
1838 Turton Genealogy: Friederich Heinrich Pistorius (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) arrives in the 

Cape on the ship Cape Packet. Records show that he is married to Augusta Frederike Bernadina von 
Landsberg in Germany, but exact dates are not known. His wife was born in Harlingrode on 
25/11/1792. Together they have a child Johann Friedrich Wilhelm Theodor Pistorius born on 
29/3/1835 in Tonsdorf, Germany. They possibly participate in the Great Trek, or else they move 
inland with the next wave of settlers immediately after the Great Trek, because Friederich Heindrich 
Pistorius dies in 1863 in Pietermaritzburg, Natal. As additional evidence of this migration, their son 
Johann Friederich Wilhelm Theodor Pistorius dies in Heidelberg, Transvaal on 25/7/1913. 
Consistent with this evidence, Augusta Frederike Bernadina von Landsberg dies in Pietermaritzburg 
aged 74 in 1863.  
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1838 With the increase of cash in the local economy arising from the Emancipation of Slaves, the Cape of 
Good Hope Bank becomes the first financial institution of its kind in the area. The first Chairman is a 
man called John Ebden, who was shipwrecked in Cape Town at the age of 18 and went on to become 
a man of considerable means. Another founding member is Hamilton Ross (see 1795).  

 
1838 Beaufort West becomes the first Municipal Authority with an elected Board of Commissioners. 
 
2/38 Piet Retief returns to Dingane with the 1,000 cattle he has been asked to recover from Sikonyela (see 

10/1837). During this second visit, Retief takes a larger force with him – 70 horsemen – hoping to 
finalize the settlement agreement he has been trying to negotiate. That agreement is for permission to 
settle between the Thukela and Mzimvubu Rivers in the lands depopulated by the Mfecane. 

 
4/2/38 Piet Retief and Dingane sign a peace treaty granting land to the Boers. This treaty is disputed today 

and is the subject of intense historic interrogation.  
 
6/2/38 In an action that is hotly disputed to this day, Retief and his men are murdered, allegedly with Retief 

being the last man killed, forced to watch his men die, including that of his own son. Dingane does 
this in full view of Francis Owen, who he leaves unscathed and thus capable of relaying the story to 
the outside world. Retief is left disembowelled as is customary and impaled on a stick, the signed 
agreement dated 4/2/1838 safe in a bag draped across his shoulders (to be discovered later by 
Andries Pretorius – see 11/1839).  

 
17/2/38 On orders from Dingane, a Zulu Impi attacks Retief’s Trek, some 2,000 strong, camping out in the 

foothills of the Drakensberg Mountains awaiting the return of their leader with the anticipated 
settlement agreement. In a brutal fight, more than 500 are left dead, including 186 children (normally 
spared prior to the Total War  doctrine). The place of this massacre is named Weenen, which means 
“weeping” in remembrance of this day, and attitudes towards the Zulu are hardened after it becomes 
apparent that negotiating a peaceful settlement will not be possible. This is also known as the 
Bloukrans Massacre. The enraged Zulu warriors then sweep onto Durban, killing all those that are 
unable to make good their immediate escape by sea. This gets the attention of the British back in 
London as news slowly filters back. Note: It is into this historic legacy of fear and mistrust that the 
Turton immigrants arrive in 1850.  

 
4/38 Piet Uys and Hendrik Potgieter join forces in a retaliatory attack on the Zulu. Both Piet Uys and his 

son are killed in this unsuccessful raid, which fails to subjugate the enraged Zulu forces. Potgieter 
decides not to fight further and leads his Trek back to the Highveld, which he had previously cleared 
of belligerent Ndebele. This action stigmatizes Potgieter in the future.  

 
10/4/38 Hendrik Potgieter and Piet Uys advance in two columns onto Dingane’s kraal. To avert this attack, 

Mhlela, a respected Zulu commander, lures them into a prepared skirmish, resulting in the death of 
Piet Uys and his 14 year old son Dirkie Uys (who goes on to become a Boer legend when he refuses 
to leave his wounded father’s side at his own peril). This becomes known as the Battle of Mtaleni 
and is a disaster for the Boer forces.  

 
8/38 Dingane orders an impi to attack a Boer encampment at Gatslaer. The Boer’s use a protective laager 

made up of wagons and the battle takes three days, during which 75 men armed with light weapons 
but using prepared defensive positions, withstand a withering attack by 10,000 Zulu’s. This act of 
forming a defensive laager becomes part of the Boer tactical thinking from this moment on (first 
having been used in 1836 but now refined to a greater level of sophistication).  

 
10/38 The British Colonial Office declares the area of British jurisdiction to be limited to 25 Degrees south 

of latitude, some 50 miles north of what later becomes Pretoria. This is done in an attempt to bring 
some control over the Voortrekker  movement that they consider to be British subjects who are now 
merely evading taxation by moving on. British military dithering continues!  

 
11/38 Andries Pretorius, a large and imposing man, known to the Zulu as Ngalonkulu (the one with 

brawny arms), starts to impose discipline among the demoralized and bickering Boer forces. He 
amasses a trek of 64 wagons, 900 oxen, 2 muzzle loaded field artillery pieces, 470 fighting men and 
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around 100 black support staff, and starts to make his way to Ngungunhlovu (Dingane’s royal kraal). 
Zulu scouts monitor this column and Dingane decides to engage the force before it arrives at its 
objective. After the trek had crossed the Ncombe River, the Boer scouts report seeing a large impi 
approaching. Pretorius decides to prepare a fighting laager on the banks of the Ncombe River, 
drawing on experience gained at Gatslaer three months earlier. The laager is positioned between a 
deep hippo pool in the Ncombe River and a deep donga running at right angles to the river. Both of 
these were natural defensive positions difficult to cross on foot, so a defensive laager is prepared 
between these natural barriers.   

 
9/12/38 A religious ceremony is held by Andries Pretorius, at what is now the railway marshalling yard at 

Ladysmith. In preparation for the ensuing battle a Covenant is made with God that if he spares the 
Boer forces, a church will be built to commemorate his glory in perpetuity and the day will be revered 
as a holy one. This feeds into Afrikaner nationalism and becomes a defining component of the myth 
of Afrikaner invincibility that goes on to characterize the Armed Struggle, and in particular the 
various military incursions into Angola after Operation Savannah on 15/10/1975.  Once the 
religious aspects had been dealt with, Pretorius prepares the field of battle by selecting the killing 
field and preparing it accordingly. 

 
15/12/38 Andries Pretorius leads a reconnaissance force out of the prepared laager on the Ncombe River. 

Near Ngutu they encounter a large Zulu force estimated to be 15,000 strong. A small skirmish ensues 
and the Impi engages but then retreats, presumably to lure to Boers into a prepared ambush. Andries 
Pretorius decides not to follow the Zulus and returns instead to the laager in preparation for a battle 
at a place of his own choosing in a field sculpted to give his forces maximum tactical advantage. This 
is set to become a test of the cunning and preparation of the Boer’s versus the raw courage of the Zulu 
warriors. A historian later wrote of this moment as follows: “Before evening prayers it was quiet in 
the laager at Ncombe and the atmosphere was very tense. Inside the laager, orders were given and 
carried out in whispers. Lanterns were moved around in silence. In the light of huge fires near the 
hippo pool and the donga, the human bodies looked ghostlike … outside the laager, a noise of 
thousands of feet, mixed with the voices of the Zulus, evolved – an invisible, mysterious, awesome 
massive noise … a noise like thunder, a strong wind blowing or the roaring of waters” (d’Assonville, 
2000:31).  

 
16/12/38 Battle is joined when a force of Zulu warriors attack Andries Pretorius’s force laagered on the banks 

of the Ncombe River. This becomes known as the Battle of Blood River and Pretorius’ force 
becomes known as the Wen Kommando, after it is discovered that they had been victorious with a 
cost of only 3 Boer’s wounded and none killed. A total of 3,500 Zulu’s are killed in this battle and the 
waters of the Ncombe River run red with their blood – hence the name of the river in Boer 
mythology – Blood River. This is a defining moment for Afrikaner Nationalism  a century later, 
becoming known as the Day of the Covenant (or Dingane’s Day) and treated as a holy day. This is 
seen as evidence of divine approval and justifiable retribution for the treachery when Dingaan 
murdered Piet Retief and his party in February 1838.  

 
17/12/38 Andries Pretorius orders an advance and attack on Dingane’s royal kraal Ngungunhlovu.  
 
21/12/38 Zulu scouts monitor the advance of Andries Pretorius and his fighting force, so by the time they 

arrive at Ngungunhlovu, the kraal has been razed to the ground by retreating Zulu’s. The bodies of 
Piet Retief and his party are found, with a leather satchel hanging around the skeleton of Retief. In 
that satchel is the signed document granting Boers land. That document is hotly disputed to this day. 
Mills & Williams (2006:34) note that the Battle of Blood River achieves security for the Boers in 
Natal, but splits the Zulu nation with Dingane’s half-brother Mpande, becoming a Boer ally. This is 
of great significance as it feeds into Boer strategic thinking from this moment onwards (see 
Operation Marion  in 1985 and its aftermath over the decade of the 1990’s; and the establishment of 
the New Republic in 4/1884). 

 
1839 

 
11/39 The Swedish naturalist Johan Wahlberg is informed by Mpande, half brother to Dingane, that there 

is growing resentment to the latter’s rule. This is reported back to the Boers, eager for any way to end 
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Zulu brutality, with memories of the Bloukrans Massacre and Weenen still fresh in mind. Pretorius 
is mobilized and offers his support to Mpande, and Dingane is overthrown. This is the origin of 
intense Afrikaner interests in Zulu politics (see Operation Marion  in 1985 and its aftermath over the 
decade of the 1990’s; and the establishment of the New Republic in 4/1884) and Andries Pretorius 
becomes the Paramount Chief of the Zulu people. Pretorius drafts a letter to the British government, 
attaching the agreement he had located in the bag hanging around the now mummified body of Piet 
Retief (see 6/2/1838), informing them of the creation of the Republic of Natalia. 

 
12/39 Turton Genealogy: Abraham Jacobus Griessel (Maternal 5th Great-Grandparent), son of Johannes 

David Grootschel and Anna Maria Jacoba Pelser, having been baptized at an unknown location in the 
Cape on 16/2/1766, dies at an unknown location aged 73. He had married Anna Maria Botma, 
daughter of Stephanus Botma and Aletta Francina Mouton at an unknown place and date. Indications 
are that they are Trekboers.    

 
1840 

 
1840 Cape Town becomes the second Municipal Authority with elected officials.  
 
1840 After the upheaval caused by the Mfecane, the Tswana people start to recover a semblance of social 

stability again.  
 
9/40 The Natalian Volksraad sends an official letter to Britain asking for formal recognition of the 

Republic of Natalia as a peaceful neighbour. An offer is made of reciprocal rights for citizens of 
both sovereign entities.  

 
10/40 The Natalian Volksraad approach Hendrik Potgieter with a view to establishing a link with the 

Republic of Winburg and Potchefstroom. Under pressure from Caspar Kruger, father of Paul 
Kruger, he agrees and Potchefstroom becomes a region of the Republic of Natalia. 

 
12/40 Andries Pretorius leads a commando against Ncaphayi, the leader of the Bhaca (meaning literally 

“the homeless ones”), in fear that they will regroup and become a threat. It seems that memories of 
the Mfecane run deep and the trauma caused by the event has implications for a long time to come. 

  
1841 

 
1/41 The American missionary Daniel Lindley is invited by the newly established Natalian Volksraad to 

become their official minister. He accepts and goes on to baptize many Boers including Paul Kruger, 
who later goes on to become the President of the Transvaal Republic and an anti-imperialist of note.  

 
1/41 The British deploy Captain Thomas Smith, a veteran of the Battle of Waterloo, to take up a position 

on the borders of the Republic of Natalia and await further orders.  
 
1/41 The British Colonial Office under James Stephen is reluctant to engage in costly expansion, so they 

vacillate over the issue of the Republic of Natalia. British military dithering continues.  
 
11/2/41 Turton Genealogy: Oltman Carel Christiaan Weeber (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), marries Anna 

Margaretha Mynhardt in Beaufort West. They go on to have eight children, none of which have 
specific dates of birth recorded, but the second of which is Oltman Carel Weeber (Paternal Great-
Great-Grandparent). This is a typical profile of a Trekboer family.  

 
7/3/41 Turton Genealogy: Johannes Petrus Botha (Maternal Great-Great Grandfather) is born in the 

Orange Free State shortly after the Great Trek, to Petrus Johannes Botha and Helena Dorothea 
Carelse.  

 
4/41 The Natalian Volksraad extends their territorial claims past the Umzimkulu to the Mzimvubu River 

in the south. This concerns the British Colonial Office because they are anxious not to place pressure 
on the Xhosa people for fear of re-awakening that old conflict.  
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4/41 Captain Smith and his force of 300 regulars with the support of the Cape Mounted Riflemen arrive in 
Port Natal. This raises tensions and makes the Boers nervous. Dick King , a Port Natal pioneer, makes 
his famous ride on the horse Ndongeni to be finally escorted by the frigate Southampton, where he 
gives his report on the state of affairs in Natalia. 

 
1842 

 
1842 Turton Genealogy: Friederich Heinrich Pistorius moves to Natal and works as a brick maker. 
 
4/42 As a result British elections, a reforming Tory government is returned. Lord Stanley resumes his old 

post as Colonial Secretary, and reverses the British policy towards the Republic of Natalia. Stanley 
suggests that the Voortrekker’s be ordered to return to the Cape Colony. Captain Smith and his force 
is withdrawn. British military dithering continues.  

 
5/42 A Dutch ship under the command of Johann Arnold Smellenkamp puts in at Durban harbour. 

Smellenkamp informs the nervous Boers that if the British become belligerent, they might consider 
asking for Dutch protection given their lineage. This gets back to the British where it invokes fears 
that the French might be behind such a notion, raising the strategic stakes for the future of the 
Republic of Natalia once again.   

 
7/42 With the changed political dynamics resulting from the withdrawal of the British armed force, 

General Sir Josias Cloete is called upon by Britain. Josias Cloete is a soldier and diplomat of note. 
Trained in England, Josias Cloete goes on to become the ADC to Lord Charles Somerset (Welsh, 
2000:182), where he plays a prominent role in negotiating a sizeable loan with Lord Bathurst. It is left 
to Josias Cloete to negotiate the peaceful surrender of the Natalian Volksraad, thus ending the brief 
period of Afrikaner independence.  Henry Cloete, brother of Josias and a lawyer with formal training 
at Leiden and Lincoln’s Inn in London, now takes a prominent position in this affair. After returning 
from his formal legal training in Europe, Henry Cloete goes on to marry the sister of Colonel John 
Graham of Fintry (also of Graham’s Town), founder of the Cape Mounted Riflemen whose Khoikhoi  
had gone on to establish a fine military tradition for themselves. This places Henry Cloete in a 
position of trust on both sides, with the necessary legal skills to accomplish the job, so he goes on to 
tie up the loose ends of the verbal agreement reached by his brother Josias with the Natalian 
Volksraad. This task is made difficult by the public resentment to such an act and epitomized in the 
famous tirade by Susanna Erasmus, who threatens to walk barefoot across the Drakensberg 
Mountains again, before placing herself under British rule once more.  

 
7/42 Turton Genealogy: Both Josias Cloete and Henry Cloete are fifth generation Afrikaner’s and direct 

descendents of Jacob Cloete (see reference under 1652), the oldest traceable relative and origin of 
my Maternal Grandmother’s bloodline (see reference under 1620). 

 
31/12/42 The British government formally reinstates the earlier protection offered to the Griqua people under 

the leadership of Adam Kok. This formally aligns the Griqua and British interests in the region. 
 

1843 
 
1843 The Free Church of Scotland breaks away from the Church of Scotland. This has implications for the 

closely-allied Dutch churches, which start to split as a result of this new theology emerging from 
Europe, because many of the ministers are Scots. Over time this leads to the establishment of the 
Nederduitse Hervormde Kerk (NHK), enthusiastically embraced by Andries Pretorius and his 
followers in Potchefstroom.  

 
1843 Henry Cloete reports that the Black population in the Republic of Natalia is estimated to be around 

14,000. 
 
8/43 The Republic of Natalia formally surrenders. This drives a wedge between the Natalia Boers and the 

Highveld Boers, most specifically Hendrik Potgieter who had left in a rage after the abortive 
Commando against Dingane (see 4/1838), and established himself along the Mooi River in a place he 
called the Republic of Winburg/Potchefstroom.  
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24/12/43 Turton Genealogy: Gert Johannes Jordaan (Maternal Great-Great Grandfather) marries Maria 

Margaretha Van Der Merwe in Craddock. In all probability they move to the Orange Free State 
immediately after the Great Trek, because their child Schalk Dietloff Jacobus Jordaan is born in 
Smithfield, Orange Free State on 12/10/1869. 

 
1844 

 
4/44 The British occupy Natal, which triggers the Highveld Boers to unite and create a new state, free and 

independent, using the Winburg and Potchefstroom experiences as a foundation. 
 

1845 
 
1845 Turton Genealogy: Susanne Letitia Clarence (mother of my Paternal Grandfather) is born in 

Rondebosch to Richard Clarence and Maria Neave. The name Clarence is perpetuated through my 
father and older brother.  

 
4/45 A Boer commando attacks a band of Griquas. Commensurate with the agreement made between 

Lieutenant Governor John Hare and Adam Kok on 31/12/42, the Boer force is met with retaliation by 
Colonial reinforcements. A cavalry charge takes place at Swartkoppies, scattering the Boers in 
disarray. This whole event triggers a new agreement, signed by Sir Peregrine Maitland, Adam Kok 
and Moshoeshoe at Touwfontein, in terms of which the right of Bantu communities to exist is 
acknowledged; the protection over those settlements is to be granted by Britain; and Griqualand is to 
be separated into a core area around the Riet River, and a portion that could be settled by the Boers.  
Captain Warden, a British officer recently in from India and the new British Resident, purchases a 
farm called Bloem Fontein from a man called J.N. Brits for 500 Rijksdalers.   

 
12/45 The Republic of Natalia is finally annexed by the Cape Colony (not the British as often assumed to 

be the case). Henry Cloete is appointed as the judge and recorder for the next nine years, of the 
whole issue of land registration and ownership. The Mpondo under Faku are given their land back 
and Mpande is left relatively undisturbed to rule over Zululand east of the Thukela and Buffalo 
Rivers. Henry Cloete also agitates for a similar land-ownership regime as that existing in the Cape. 

 
1846 

 
1846 The War of the Axe, also known as the Seventh Frontier War, starts in the Eastern Cape and lasts 

until 1847. The Xhosa leader is a young man called Sandile, who has taken over as Ngqika’s 
successor. Sandile is half brother to Macoma, who laments the fact that when he attended the peace 
conference with Lord Charles Somerset and his father Ngqika on 2/4/1817, the Southern Nguni were 
able to move their cattle freely across the coastal area between the Thukela and Great Fish Rivers. 
Now, Xhosaland (see reference to this concept in Operation Katzen - 9/7/1886, 6/1887, 12/1887) 
has been divided with the Bhaca and Thembu each recognizing their own chiefs, and the Mfengu, 
having been displaced by the Mfecane and now allied with the settlers, being bitterly resented by the 
Xhosa. Phato throws the support of his people behind the War of the Axe. This is significant 
because until now he has been neutral and has even allied himself with the British on occasion. 

 
10/46 Sir Andries Stockenström leads a delegation to Chief Sarili , the successor to Hintsa and head of the 

Transkeian Gcaleka Xhosa, in an attempt to avert the looming war. This fails when Sir Peregrine 
Maitland insults the Chief by demanding indemnities. Stockenström resigns in protest. The war starts 
when a supply column is ambushed and 20 British soldiers are killed. This is followed by a mass 
attack on the Eastern Cape by a Xhosa force of 12,000 warriors. The British retaliate, this time with 
the support of Xhosa warriors from the now divided Gqunukhwebe under Kama, and others loyal to 
Maphasa of the Thembu clan. This means that the War of the Axe becomes a Civil War  where 
Xhosa kills Xhosa and for the very first time in the history of warfare in this region, torture is used. 
The first recorded use is against a British Sergeant who is roasted on a stake, but survives for three 
days after he is rescued and is thus able to tell his story.  
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12/12/46 Turton Genealogy: Maria Neave, wife of Richard Clarence (Paternal Grandfather’s Maternal 
Grandfather), dies at Rondebosch aged about 38 having travelled from her place of birth in 
Gillingham, Dorset, England.  

 
1847 

 
1847 The War of the Axe ends with the Xhosa people in severe disarray. This leads to considerable 

hardships for the Xhosa people when 40,000 cattle are seized as reparation. 
 
6/6/47 Turton Genealogy: Gysbert Van Rooyen (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), marries Barbara 

Christina Jacoba Meintjies in Craddock. There is strong evidence that both he and his wife participate 
in the movement of settlers immediately after the Great Trek from the Cape to the Transvaal 
Republic, because both he and his wife die in Rustenburg (see 11/12/1886 and 11/4/1909). It is 
evident that Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies lived through the Second Anglo-Boer War and the 
British  Scorched Earth Policy.  

 
12/47 Sir Harry Smith  arrives in the Cape, fresh from a military victory against the Sikhs in India. A 

veteran of the Battle of Waterloo, the sacking of Washington and an earlier Frontier War in the 
Eastern Cape, Harry Smith  is disappointed that the War of the Axe is over. Smith summonses the 
now defeated Macoma, and forcing him to his knees places his foot on the man’s neck, stating 
emphatically that he (Smith) is now the Chief and Master – the so-called Inkosi Inkhulu. This act of 
bullying insults the Xhosa people, which according to some commentators (see Welsh, 2000:191), 
lays the foundation for the next war with the Xhosa. British military dithering costs human lives.  

 
1848 

 
1848 Hendrik Potgieter leads a group of Voortrekker’s  to establish a community in the Soutpansberg 

region of the Limpopo River basin. 
 
1848 Sir Harry Smith  insults the British ally, Adam Kok of the Griqua people, by threatening to hang him 

from a beam. Smith then goes on to insult Andries Pretorius who he meets near the Thukela River, 
having avoided him before. Smith then makes a unilateral decision and declares the area to be the 
Orange River Sovereignty. Pretorius, outraged by this act of unnecessary aggression, assembles a 
force of 1,000 Boers and evicts the British Resident, Major Warden, from his official residence in 
Bloemfontein. This triggers a military reaction from the British, so Sir Harry Smith  gets his way and 
leads a cavalry charge at Boomplaats in Griqualand. The result of this set of incidents is that the 
Orange River Sovereignty becomes an official part of the British Empire, even after it was not 
enthusiastically received by the Colonial Office when first mooted by Smith.  

  
1848 The normally peaceful Cape (when compared to the Eastern Frontier) is upset when a law is passed 

after the Irish Disturbances, by which convicts would be sent to the Cape Colony. This outrages the 
citizens and causes severe tension to the extent that the Governor’s Annual Ball has to be protected 
from rioters by armed soldiers. Adderley Street gets its name in honour of Sir Charles Adderley, after 
he manages to get the law repealed. 

 
1849 

 
10/9/49 Turton Genealogy: Francois Philippus Jacobus Vilonel (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) marries 

Hendrina Johanna Adriana Griessel in the Cape Colony.  
 

1850 
 
1850 A severe drought occurs, exacerbating the hardships being felt by the Xhosa people after the loss of 

their cattle in the War of the Axe. 
 
1850 Turton Genealogy: Josiah Turton (Paternal Great-Great Grandfather) and his wife Jane Elizabeth 

Raistrick come to South Africa on the ship Hebrides in 1850, because records show that their 8th 
child, Clara Turton, is born in January 1850 on that ship (see 8/4/1874 for details of her marriage to 
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Richard Marshall, a diamond digger in Kimberley). Their 9th child, Stanley Turton, is born in Durban 
in 1853. Their 11th child, Frank Turton is born in Dundee in 1855 and dies in Hayfields, Dundee 
District on 20 June 1925. This evidence places the Turton family in close physical proximity to the 
theatre in which the Anglo-Zulu W ar is waged, probably having 
moved to Dundee between 1853 and 1855. This is possibly the 
origin of the subsequent close connection with the Zulu nation and 
culture. The name Stanley Turton is perpetuated as a family name 
until 1951 when my brother, Clarence Stanley Turton (III), dies of 
Diphtheria (see 12/8/1951). This also places the family in close 
proximity to the Second Anglo-Boer War – the Battle of Talana 
Hill  (20/10/1899) and Battle of Elandslaagte (21/10/1899). This is 
the origin of my Paternal Grandfather’s bloodline. Significantly, 
the arrival of the Turton family in Port Natal, presumably 
accompanied by a considerable degree of culture shock and 
hardship, is also punctuated by the wreck of the ship Minerva (see 
4/7/1850). This incident thus takes on special significance in the 
Turton family history, with the name Minerva being taken to signify 
tenacity.  

 
4/7/50 The Minerva runs aground at the foot of the Bluff (see 12/7/1850).  
 
12/7/50 The Natal Witness carries a story about a fleet of three ships bringing the Byrne Settlers from London 

to D’Urban. These are the Henrietta, Conquering Hero and Minerva. The ship Minerva, under the 
command of Captain James Moir, runs aground onto the rocks at the foot of the Bluff when it slips 
anchor after discharging most of the passengers, during the night of 4 July 1850. All of the passengers 
survive, with only one crew man of the Henrietta losing his life in a rescue effort, but they are left 
destitute, having lost all of their worldly possessions. An account of the Minerva is to be found in a 
diary entitled “Under Sail to Natal” by Watson. Of the many passengers aboard, 67 are Wesleyan’s, 
almost all of which go on to become successful in one way or another, linking this wreck to the myth 
and legend of the tenacity of English settlers in Natal. The diary of John Baxter, passenger on the 
Henrietta, gives his view of the aftermath of Minerva's wreck: "July 6th 1850. I have here to relate 
the sad fate of the Minerva that fine ship is now a total wreck, and short time after arriving dragged 
anchor and drifted ashore through it is said carelessness. The passengers all landed safe, but the loss 
of Property [sic] to many is almost ruinous, some were divest of every particle of rainment [sic] save 
what they had on - their goods nearly all lost. I went to look at the wreck on the following Sunday, 
she had so broken up that little remained to be seen except broken pieces. Which strew the beach for 
about two or three miles along the coast. What 
the tide had left fortunately many valuables 
were found, but the greater part that came 
ashore were broken and torn to pieces cloths, 
blankets, beds, casks, boxes etc. A most 
astonishing and distressing sight. The most 
strenuous efforts were made by the inhabitants 
of D'Urban to alleviate the sufferings of their 
distressed countrymen in two or three days 
something like 100 pounds were realised by the 
Wesleyans alone, for the purchase of clothing 
and bedding, and immediately distributed. The 
churchmen and the Public [sic] generally have 
also been very liberal, and the Government has undertaken to locate them as soon as possible on their 
land and supply seeds and implements for immediate use." Image: Wreck of Minerva painted by J. 
Forsyth Ingram courtesy of http://www.genealogyworld.net/rose/maritime/b_minerva.html… 

 
Turton Genealogy: The name Minerva enters the Turton family genealogy, when Minerva Yvonne 
Turton is born in 1923 and named in memory of the tenacity of the survivors of this British ship.  

 
12/50 A prophet by the name of Mlanjeni , also known as the Riverman, unites the desperate Xhosa people 

now broken after the War of the Axe, claiming that the British will go back to the sea if witches are 
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purified and all dun-coloured cattle are slaughtered. He claims that all Xhosa warriors wanting to 
fight will be given guaranteed invincibility. The first attacks occur when two British forces are set 
upon by inflamed warriors. Mhala, son of Ndlambe, unites with his nephew Sixolo and the Thembu 
followers under Maphasa. These in turn unite with Sandile’s force as the uprising gains critical 
mass. As a result of growing resentment to the changed way that the Khoikhoi  are being treated by 
the British, the Kat River settlement gives their support to the uprising. The once loyal Cape 
Mounted Riflemen mutiny, with elements joining the Xhosa forces. This becomes known as the 
Frontier War  and it lasts for two years, taking on the complexion of a Civil War  given the Xhosa 
support on both sides and fought as a Total War . 

 
1851 

 
1851 Wool exports out of Port Elizabeth represent more than 50% of the value of all exports from the Cape 

Colony. This is an indicator of the relevance of the 1820 Settlers, who brought Merino sheep with 
them. 

 
1851 During the Frontier War , Sir Harry Smith , a veteran of many conflicts, is besieged in Fort Cox. 

Simultaneously, siege is laid to the other British strongholds at Fort Hare and Fort Beaufort. Macoma 
shows his talent as a guerrilla fighter when he ties up many British forces with his combined Xhosa / 
Khoikhoi  raiding parties. Sixolo leads an aggressive ambush of the Queens Regiment, leaving 60 
British soldiers dead. The war takes on a new format never seen before, with embattled British holed 
up in fortifications unable to range free over the land, pitted against angry Xhosa and Khoikhoi  
fighters incapable of capturing the fortifications. (See details of the Mozambique Civil War  for a 
modern approximation of such a state of affairs). A decisive battle at Fort Hare becomes an Mfengu 
versus Xhosa affair, to show just how far it had degenerated into a Civil War . Xhosa women begin to 
torture survivors of raids on the British, which in turn invites brutal retaliation by the angered British. 
The whole conflict degenerates into a sad, bloody and brutal affair, which according to Welsh 
(2000:196) has parallels with the Indian Mutiny  that was to happen 5 years into the future, foretold 
by the mutiny of the Cape Mounted Riflemen. 

 
13/4/51 Turton Genealogy: The Reverend Isaac Turton (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandfather) dies in Rockingham, 

Leeds, Yorkshire aged 73. A document entitled the Index of Methodist Ministers and Probationers 
who have Died in the Work, published by the Methodist Publishing House in London during 1969, 
describes the Reverend Isaac Turton as follows: “The subject of this sketch reached the itinerancy in 
1798, and has for some years been upon the 
supernumerary list; but although; from age and 
bodily infirmity, he has been compelled partially 
to rest from his labours, two of his sons have 
stepped into his place, and give promise of high 
acceptability and usefulness. Reverend Charles 
G. Turton has been in the itinerancy seven, and 
Reverend Henry H. Turton in the mission field in 
New Zealand about eight years. Mr. Turton 
senior has also a son-in-law who has been 
labouring as a very useful missionary in Ceylon, 
Reverend Robert Spence Hardy, author of 
‘Travels in the Holy Land’, an interesting volume 
which has been republished in this country. … 
During the vigour of his days Mr. [Isaac] Turton 
commanded much attention in the Weslyan 
Connection. Few of his contemporaries were 
more acceptable in the pulpit, or out of it 
exercised a more legitimate and salutary 
influence upon their respective societies. By his 
brethren in the ministry he was always held in 
high estimation, and he has been ambitious of 
distinction – had he even been less retiring and 
less indifferent to reputation, other than that of being an acceptable minister of the New Testament, 
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and a faithful overseer of the Church of God, the suffrages of his brethren would have been freely 
accorded him office and elevation among them. Few men with Mr. Turton’s talents as a preacher 
have so resolutely pursued the even tenor of their way, content, like the violet of the vale, to reveal 
their presence by the sweet perfume of their piety, rather than by the splendour of their talents. As a 
pastor he has had no superior and few equals. In this respect he was a ‘son of consolation’; all 
tenderness and sympathy, yet ever faithful to his councils in sickness and in health, in adversity and in 
prosperity. All his movements among the people, his daily intercourse with them and their children, 
showed that he cared for their souls, and watched over them as one that must give account. But with 
all this openness of purpose, this fidelity to the vows that were upon him, there was so much 
gentleness, cheerfulness and suavity, that he won in a remarkable degree the affection of all, while he 
secured their veneration and respect. … Even at an advanced age, and after years of affliction and 
sorrow, Mr. Turton’s personal appearance is remarkably pleasing. In the ripe vigour of his days he 
must have been a handsome man, as indeed those who knew him then declare that he was; the 
countenance of intelligence and mildness; the complexion florid; the cheek bones slightly prominent; 
the forehead high and well developed; the eye of a light blue-grey, clear and sparkling, giving a 
vivacity somewhat in contrast with the general repose of the face; the frame about five feet ten inches 
in height, well proportioned in every respect; his gait and movements natural and easy, and the tout-
ensemble that of an intelligent, affable Christian gentleman, heightened not a little by a becoming 
taste and care in his apparel. … Few men have read more and to better repose that Mr. Turton. He 
has for many years possessed an extensive library, the contents of which he has digested. With every 
standard theological writer, from the ‘Father’ down to the authors of the Eighteenth Century, he is 
thoroughly familiar. The arguments and the fallacies of each have been carefully noted in the reading, 
and are reproduced with perfect ease in conversation and in the pulpit, as authorities or for refutation. 
More than most men he possesses the faculty of making the contents of the most abstruse and 
elaborate works his own; never, however, confounding the various sources whence he derives his 
knowledge. There is scarcely a standard book of which he cannot impromptu give a complete 
analysis; and he was always willing to give his younger brethren the benefit of his experience for their 
guidance, either in the selection of libraries or the prosecution of their studies. He was, indeed, the 
kind friend and judicious counsellor of young preachers, local as well as itinerant” (italics added). 
(See 1833 for details of the death of his second wife Ann Cowper, and 1864 for details of the death of 
his third wife Susannah Preston in 1864, giving some insight into the travails referred to in this 
eulogy. His third wife is taken care of for life in terms of his last will and testament – see 15/9/1851).  

 
7/51 Major Warden and a British military force is repulsed by Moshoeshoe at the Battle of Viervoet. The 

British lose 150 killed in action, mostly coming from Moroka’s Rolong. 
 
15/9/51 Turton Genealogy: The Reverend Isaac Turton (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandfather) has his last will and 

testament processed by Matthew Speight of Leeds, Yorkshire. In terms of this will Isaac Turton 
leaves an estate of 400 Pounds, which is a considerable sum of money for that time. He bequeaths 
specific items to his children. My Paternal Great-Great Grandfather (Jabez Turton) inherits a portrait 
of Isaac’s sister Mary Ann, “late the wife of the Reverend Robert Spence Hardy, Weslyan Minister”. 
His “defective” daughter Rebecca (presumably handicapped) inherits, “the small bedstead for a single 
person with the bed clothes and linen for the time being belonging thereto – also the oaken chest of 
drawers, the square oak table and a bedroom chair, the smallest looking glass for her personal use 
during her life; and after her decease I direct my executors to dispose of the proceeds of such sale in 
defraying the expenses of her funeral or in such manner that they may think proper”. The majority of 
the wealth – 300 Pounds in total – is left to his son Robert Cowper, with his “present wife Susanna” 
having a claim to the proceeds of this wealth during her life in four equal quarterly sums starting 
from, “the end of three calendar months after my decease” (Turton genealogical data). (See 1864 for 
details of the death of Susannah Robinson, Isaac Turton’s third wife).  

 
15/9/51 The Colonial Secretary writes a letter to Sir Harry Smith , instructing him to put an end to the 

excessive expenses being incurred in the Orange River Sovereignty.   
 

1852 
 
1852 The Frontier War  ends when Sandile and Macoma are pushed off the land across the Kei River, 

and the remaining Thembu placed under the rule of Queen Nonesi, a daughter of Faku of the 
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Mpondo. The cost to the British taxpayer is seen to be outrageous and the British Colonial Office is 
deeply unimpressed at the cost of keeping the Cape Colony going – a place from which little profit it 
to be made but where spiralling defence costs seem the order of the day. It is against this background 
that Sir Harry Smith  is dismissed and recalled back to England.  

 
1852 There are three British governments elected in this one year, which goes down in English history as 

being one of great political vacillation and instability at home. This results in weak leadership from 
the Colonial Office in London, thereby leaving a lot of discretion in the hands of officials in the 
various colonies. Note: It is against this background that the rather hasty decision to change the 
Orange River Sovereignty into a so-called Free State and additional British military dithering must 
be interpreted.  

 
1852 Turton Genealogy: Petrus Jacobus Meintjies (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), born to Willem 

Meintjies and Barbara Christina Hanekom in Waveren on 8/2/1800, dies at Slotkraal in Kroonstad in 
1852 aged 52 having participated in the Great Trek. Additional evidence for this is the fact that his 
daughter Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies, who was born in Craddock on 29/12/1828, dies in 
Boschfontein, District Rustenburg on 11/4/1909.    

 
1/1/52 At the Sand River Convention, the British state their preparedness to recognize a Boer state north of 

the Vaal River. Significantly, the right to negotiate foreign agreements with Black tribes to the north 
is a central feature. This paves the way for the establishment of the Zuid Afrikaanse Republiek 
(ZAR), which becomes the first Westphalian State to be established in Africa in what is also known 
as the Transvaal (across the Vaal). This is a Boer Republic and the realization of a dream by the 
original Voortrekker’s . (See 1877 for a violation of this Convention).  

 
12/52 Sir George Cathcart and a British military force is defeated by Moshoeshoe, with a loss of 27 

Lancers. Cathcart describes the Basotho cavalry as being in the same league as the Russian Cossacks 
that he had previously fought with. This leaves the Basotho as an African tribal grouping that had not 
been defeated by the British on the field of battle, because shortly afterwards Moshoeshoe negotiates 
a diplomatic solution, paving the way to Basutoland becoming a British Protectorate. In the interim 
however, Moshoeshoe has succeeded in getting rid of his troublesome rivals Sikonyela and 
Taaibosch. 

 
19/12/52 Turton Genealogy: Elizabeth Buck, wife of Richard Clarence (Paternal 3rd Great Grandparent) dies 

in Exeter, Devon aged 77 (Ancestral File 4KNK-V6).   
 

1853 
 
1853 The Crimean War starts and lasts until 1856. There are many subtle but important links to South 

African history arising from this event (see the Great Cattle Killing Delusion of 4/1856 and the War 
against Moshoeshoe of 12/1852). 

 
1853 A revised draft Constitution is agreed upon with two elected Houses of Parliament, which is the first 

step to full Colonial Government. This had what later came to be known as the “Cape Franchise”, 
which gave the vote to people of colour. Based on the 1828 law that defined qualifications for jury 
service, it is colour-blind, but uses property ownership to determine rights.  

 
6/4/53 Turton Genealogy: Frans Cornelis Jacobus Cloete (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), born at 

Diekantom in the Cape on 17/7/1795 and having been baptized at an unknown location on 1/5/1796, 
dies at Wildebeesfontein (probably in the Orange Free State) aged 57. Indications are that he 
possibly participated in the Great Trek.  

 
15/8/53 Turton Genealogy: Susara Aletta Van Rooyen (Maternal Great-Great Grandparent) is born in 

Zuurplaat to Gysbert Van Rooyen and Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies. Susara goes on to marry 
Johannes Petrus Botha (Maternal Great-Great Grandfather) on an unknown date and at an unknown 
place. It is known however, that Susara’s parents moved into the Transvaal in the first batch of 
settlers after the Great Trek. It is evident that Barbara Christina Jacoba Meintjies lived through the 
Second Anglo-Boer War and the British  Scorched Earth Policy.  
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1854 

 
1854 Alfred Milner is born in Germany, the son of a half-German medical student and an English mother. 

He later studies at Oxford where he develops a formidable intellect, winning a string of academic 
prizes. He goes on to work closely with Chamberlain, ultimately regarding southern Africa as being 
the weakest link in the Imperial chain, which he seeks to strengthen after he is appointed as British 
High Commissioner in the Cape in May 1897 (Meredith, 2007:366).   

 
1854 The Cape Legislative Assembly has a good mixture of people from both Dutch and English 

parentage, as well as having representivity from both the Eastern and Western Cape. 
 
1854 Natal is reported to have a population of around 120,000 Blacks and 6,000 Whites.  
 
1854 The Reverend John William Colenso becomes the first Anglican Bishop of Natal. 
 
1854 Cetshwayo kaMpande, the oldest son of the reigning Zulu King and his likely heir, draws first 

attention by distinguishing himself in combat against the Swazi people.    
 
1854 Copper is discovered on the farm Springbokfontein. The British are interested and establish the South 

African Mining Company  (SAMC). 
 
2/54 The Bloemfontein Convention is signed by Sir George Clerk (a British civil servant with experience 

in India and now delegated to manage the trans-Orange issues by Sir George Cathcart, who is 
occupied on the Eastern Frontier) and Johannes Hoffman, who becomes the first President of the 
Orange Free State (OFS). This becomes the second Boer Republic to be established in terms of the 
Westphalian State system in Africa. As with the Sand River Convention (see 1852), the British 
renounce any alliance with tribes north of the Orange River, with the exception of the agreement in 
existence with Adam Kok and the Griqua people. However, Kok is later betrayed when Clerk tells the 
Boer delegates in secret that the intention is to ensure that the Griquas leave the Orange Free State. 
The Orange Free State has a population at this time of around 10,000 people of European descent 
(mostly Voortrekker’s , but also British that had followed after the Great Trek), around 30,000 of 
Black or Griqua origin (mostly the Rolong under the leadership of Moroka). Because of the betrayal 
of the Griqua people, they later embark on a Great Trek of their own, under the leadership of Adam 
Kok, and settle in what is until then called No-man’s-land, claimed by Faku but left largely 
uninhabited, which is renamed Griqualand East. 

 
10/8/54 Turton Genealogy: Arthur Augustus Turton, brother of Jabez Turton (Paternal Great-Grandfather), 

is born in Dundee, Natal. He dies in Pietermaritzburg on 29/4/1940. This places the Turton family in 
close proximity to the theatre of the Anglo-Zulu War  of 1878/9.  

 
12/54 Sir George Grey arrives in his capacity as British High Commissioner, giving his name over time to 

the Grey Library in Cape Town and Grey Hospital in King William’s Town. 
 

1855 
 
1855 The Grey Hospital opens in King William’s Town, with Dr. J.P. Fitzgerald playing a leading role. An 

ophthalmologist by formal training, Fitzgerald’s work attracts wide interest almost immediately and 
the hospital rapidly becomes famous for the way it treats all patients equally and generally with good 
success.  

 
1855 The Xhosa are again engaged in a war with the British.  
 
1855 Cattle Lung Disease breaks out in the remaining Xhosa herds, killing two thirds of the animals, 

taking the people to the very brink of social collapse. In places this causes utter destitution, with a 
total loss of cattle being experienced in places such as among the followers of Phato. 
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1855 Turton Genealogy: Frank Turton, brother of Jabez Turton (Paternal Great-Grandfather), is born in 
Dundee, Natal. He dies in Hayfields, Dundee District on 20/6/1925 after marrying Amy Elizabeth 
Marshall and producing seven children. This suggests that he lived his whole life in close proximity 
to the theatre of the Anglo-Zulu War  of 1878/9, but also the Second Anglo-Boer War (see the 
Battle of Talana Hill on 20/10/1899 and the Battle of Elandslaagte on 21/10/1899).  

 
1855 Turton Genealogy: Hendrina Johanna Adriana Vilonel, future wife of Frans Cornelis Jacobus Cloete 

(Maternal Great-Great Grandfather) is born at an unknown location to Francois Philippus Jacobus 
Vilonel and Hendrina Johanna Adriana Griessel.  

 
1856 

 
1856 The Crimean War ends having started in 1853. 
 
1856 Andries Pretorius leads a delegation to Bloemfontein where he demands that the Orange Free State 

unite with the Transvaal. 
 
1856 The first book to be printed in the language that came to be called Afrikaans is a Muslim prayer book. 

This is the origin of the birth of Afrikaans as a written language (see 1860). 
 
1856 A Xhosa man by the name of Tiyo Sogo is ordained as a minister of religion after studying at 

Lovedale, Glasgow and Edinburgh. He takes a Scottish wife and returns to South Africa, where he 
becomes an icon as an educated Xhosa that has embraced European customs (and is thus seen to be 
“civilized”) without turning his back on his native “roots” (see 1871).   

 
1856 Between the two British Colonies (Cape and Natal) are a string of loosely defined native states with 

different degrees of social cohesion and allegiance to Britain. These consist of: Fingoland (home of 
the resettled Mfengu); Thembuland and Emigrant Thembuland; Pondoland (home of the Mpondo); 
No-man’s-land (an unsettled area of instability and lawlessness); Bomvambaland and Gcalekaland 
(two which the unfortunate survivors of Sarili ’s Xhosa’s are confined). On the perimeter of this lies 
the amaZulu under Mpande, who are still quiet and have not yet attracted too much direct attention 
from the British.  

 
4/56 Two prophets – Sifuba Sibanzi (the broad-chested one) and Napakade (the eternal one) – appear to a 

young maiden by the name of Nongqawuse, one of Sarili ’s people, near the Gxarha River in 
Transkei. These prophets tell her that if the Xhosa people slaughter all of their cattle, burn all the 
grain and smash all the pots, then the land will become healthy again and the whites would disappear. 
Not all Xhosa believe this, but some Chief’s urge their people to follow the instructions of 
Nongqawuse. Sarili , son of the murdered Hintsa, throws his full weight behind the call. As the 
projected time for the fulfilment of the prophesy approaches, greater enthusiasm is whipped up as fear 
takes root that non-compliance by some might undermine the overall potency of the prophesy. New 
enthusiasm is injected into the followers of Nongqawuse when news of the Crimean War starts a 
rumour that the Russians are a Black Tribe (maybe as a result of the association of the people with the 
geographic place called the Black Sea?), and having defeated Britain will come to South Africa and 
liberate the Xhosa people too. This divides the Xhosa, with Sandile refusing to give his support to 
what becomes known as the Great Cattle Killing Delusion. His people become alienated as a result. 
(See details of the Rinderpest in 1903 for a comparative analysis of the impact of this event). Note: 
The psyche and process of a group adopting a suicidal policy is well documented when certain 
cultural groups face extreme uncertainty, such as found in the history of the Seventh Day Adventist 
Church and the sect that met its demise in what became known as the Jamestown Massacre.  

 
1857 

 
1857 Tensions exist between two major Voortrekker  communities in the Transvaal. The Schoeman 

supporters are based in the Soutpansberg and the opposing group is based in Potchefstroom, with a 
state of wapende protes (armed protest) existing between them. To outsiders, this looks like 
manifestation of a brewing Civil War , but seen from within, this is simply another form of Boer 
political interaction.    
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1857 As the Great Cattle Killing Delusion unfolds, the amaXhosa population in British Kaffraria 

plummets from 105,000 to 37,500, a combination of death by starvation and a mass out migration of 
refugees. With the demise of the amaXhosa as a cohesive nation, any hopes they might have had of 
establishing an independent state like Shaka had done in Zululand, and how Moshoeshoe is currently 
doing in Basutoland, seem to be dashed forever. This is a sad year for the amaXhosa nation and a 
turning point for them, because it drives them into servitude for more than a century to come. 

 
1857 Lord Carnarvon becomes the Foreign Secretary in Benjamin Disraeli’s Conservative government. 

Carnarvon starts to formulate ideas around federation for the various British interests around the 
world. These ideas start to filter out to South Africa where Carnarvon sees a number of self-
governing, but independent Southern African colonies and republics, united by a common allegiance 
to Britain. (See Battle of Majuba, 27/2/1881). 

 
8/2/57 Turton Genealogy: Johann Friedrich Wilhelm Theodor Pistorius (Paternal Great-Great Grandfather), 

marries Catharina Maria Grobler.  
 
17/2/57 As the last date (Welsh, 2000:219 reports the date as being 18/2/57) for the realization of 

Nongqawuse’s prophesy dawns, disappointment sweeps the land. Forty thousand Xhosa die of 
starvation as a direct result of this event. This is known as the Great Cattle Killing Delusion, which 
literally breaks the Xhosa nation, making them lose their independence from this moment onwards. 
This begins a process of urbanization that becomes a part of the social and economic fabric of South 
Africa. Commenting on the outcome of the Great Cattle Killing Delusion, Welsh (2000:261-2) 
quotes Fatima Meer’s biography of Nelson Mandela as an example of how the outcome of this tragic 
event becomes a myth in its own right. The version that Mandela cites (Meer, 1990:17) suggests that 
the, “white people decided to destroy the Xhosa by perpetrating an unimaginable evil. They simulated 
the izinyanya [ancestral spirits] and tricked them into destroying themselves. Sarhili ’s [sic] most 
renowned councillor was Mhlakaza, the wisest of all the seers of the Xhosa. Sarhili  [sic] respected 
and believed him. So the white people set a trap for Mhlakaza. One day when his niece was fetching 
water from the stream she heard voices and saw strange men, and when she was about to run in fear 
they restrained her and asked her to send her uncle, Mhlakaza, to them. She did. He came and the 
trick was so clever that he believed they were the izinyanya. He saw among them his dead brother 
who had been an even greater seer than he, and his brother told him of the Russians, the powerful 
enemy of the English, who would come to liberate the Xhosa. He asked them to prepare for the 
coming by killing the cattle and leaving the fields fallow. Tatu Joyi said that to this day they were 
unable to explain how so wise a man as Mhlakaza could have fallen for so terrible a trick. He must 
have been bewitched and in turn bewitched Sarhili  [sic], the king, who ordered his people to do as 
the izinyanya had directed”.  Comment: A serious assessment of the Great Cattle Killing Delusion 
gives great insight into a number of fundamental issues that are relevant to life and politics in the 21st  
Century, the most notable being that African political leadership all too often remains reluctant to 
accept responsibility for their own actions. Colonialism has provided an easy way to pass the blame 
onto some unfortunate minority group. Coming with the moral authority of a man like Mandela, 
widely hailed as one of the greatest men in the history of the 20th Century, a debate over the reliance 
on witchcraft by a distressed and embattled people (something that Welsh (2000) is at great pains to 
explain is a cornerstone of all British Imperial policy), is subtly shifted to a different debate over the 
inherent evils of the White Man and his cunningness in the deception of the Black Man.  This merely 
starts yet another cycle of violence by fuelling hatred and undermining trust between the diverse 
groups that make up that complex whole in the place we now call democratic South Africa.  In reality 
there is other compelling evidence of social groups adopting suicidal policies when under extreme 
cultural pressure, such as that which occurred when the Seventh Day Adventists awaited the arrival 
of their Saviour; and the tragedy that befell the sect known as the Jamestown Massacre.   

 
7/4/57 Sir George Grey makes a speech in the Cape Assembly in which he says that as a restless nation for 

many years, the Xhosa have harassed the Eastern Frontier, but now they may be changed into “useful 
labourers”. And so, the Xhosa are broken as a nation, not by any glorious victory by their enemies, 
but as the result of starvation and a broken spirit caused by a century of repeated fighting, becoming 
ever more brutal to the point of self-destruction, as manifest by the Great Cattle Killing Delusion.  
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1858 
 
1858 The Xhosa population in British Kaffraria drops further to a low of 26,916 as a result of mass 

starvation and the outflow of refugees caused by the Great Cattle Killing Delusion. The Xhosa 
nation is never the same after this event. This leaves gaps in the landscape to be filled by settlers, but 
most are wary and reluctant to move. The end of the Crimean War produces a crop of unemployed 
German and Swiss veterans, so they are recruited to be resettled in British Kaffraria. Baron von 
Stutterheim arrives, leading a band of 2,400 German war veterans, and they are settled on the land left 
bare by the demise of the Xhosa nation. Lord Grey uses this influx of trained soldiers to free up some 
British forces for redeployment to put down the Indian Mutiny  now underway on the Sub-continent. 
Grey also expels Sarili  and his followers, confining them to a narrow strip of land along the coast, 
east of the Kei River. This became the Transkei (meaning across the Kei). Their former territory gets 
allocated to the Mfengu, who have by now become despised refugees and a far cry from those 
victims of the Mfecane that were sheltered by Gcaleka a generation earlier. The former Gcaleka 
territory is resettled by the Thembu, in what is now known as Emigrant Thembuland. And thus the 
die is cast for another monumental series of political upheavals set to befall the very same region a 
century later when Operation Katzen is unleashed during the Armed Struggle (see 13/6/1986).  

 
12/58 Lord Grey, flushed with success at having negotiated a peace agreement between Moshoeshoe and 

the Orange Free State, is again enthused when the Orange Free State Volksraad asks him for an 
alliance with the Cape Colony.  

 
1859 

 
1859 Dominee Dirk Postma, a member of the splinter group that breaks away to form the Nederduitse 

Hervormde Kerk, sets up a new church called the Gereformeerde Kerk, known as the Doppers. The 
centre of this church is in Potchefstroom.  

 
12/59 Martinus Pretorius is elected as President of the Orange Free State and sets out to unite the OFS and 

the Transvaal. 
 

1860 
 
1860 A serious drought occurs, killing livestock and causing local banks to become uncertain about their 

future viability.  
 
1860 Alexander Fullerton draws a map showing all the lands south of the Vaal River to be part of the 

Orange Free State. This map becomes critical after the discovery of diamonds in 1867 because it 
becomes the basis for future political claims to the region.  

 
1860 The Afrikaans language is given a boost when Louis Meurant, a magistrate at Craddock, uses the 

language in an official sense for the first time (see 1856). 
 
4/4/60 The first united Volksraad meets. Tensions arise over unity and Martinus Pretorius is suspended as 

President of the Transvaal. A stated of armed protest exists between the two Boer Republics for the 
next four years.  

 
1861 

 
1861 The Standard Bank is founded. 
 

1862 
 
1862 The drought persists, driving hardship across the land, exacerbating the hardships being experienced 

by the amaXhosa as the result of the Great Cattle Killing Delusion.  
 
1862 As a result of the Mfecane, a new Black tribal grouping had emerged in the Limpopo River basin 

area. Under the leadership of Sekwati, the son of Thulare, founder of the Pedi Empire, they had 
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occupied much of the Transvaal. Sekhukhune succeeds as Chief of the Pedi people in 1862, but the 
tribe starts to disintegrate and two smaller chieftains emerge – the Sotho under Mako and the Ndebele 
under Mapoch (also known as Mabhogo).    

 
26/9/62 Turton Genealogy: Wilhelm Pieter Pistorius (Paternal Great-Grandfather) is born to Johann 

Friedrich Wilhelm Theodor Pistorius and Catharina Maria Grobler, his mother having probably 
participated in the Great Trek. The place of birth is unknown but is probably in the Orange Free 
State because he is subsequently baptized at Harrismith (see 8/6/1863). During his life he goes on to 
become an advocate and Mayor of Middelburg.  

 
1863 

 
1863 Mzilikazi , the founder of the Matabele-Ndebele polity centred on Bulawayo as a result of the 

Mfecane, is succeeded by his son Lobengula. This polity is powerful enough to resist Trekboer (and 
later Transvaal) expansionism into the central parts of Southern Africa.  

 
1863 Ngangelizwe, son of Mthikrakra and grandson of Ngubengcuka, rules from 1863 to 1844. This is 

Nelson Mandela’s lineage. Ngubengcuka collaborates with the British according to Welsh 
(2000:503), fighting Sarhili ’s Xhosa and riding with Walter Stanford in the 1877 - 1878 War, and 
again supporting the British in suppressing the Thembuland Rebellion of 1880.  

 
1863 Turton Genealogy: Friederich Heinrich Pistorius (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) dies in 

Pietermaritzburg aged about 74, having migrated inland from the Cape Province either during the 
Great Trek, or else in the first wave of migration after the Great Trek. This places my Paternal 
Grandmother’s family in close proximity to the subsequent Anglo-Zulu War .  

 
8/6/63 Turton Genealogy: Wilhelm Pieter Pistorius (my Paternal Great-Grandfather) is baptized in 

Harrismith. 
 

1864 
 
1864 As the result of growing tension over the funding of the military calamites in the Cape Colony, the 

Cape Legislature is persuaded to levy taxes in order to balance the budget without recourse to the 
British taxpayer. For example, the Treasury had earlier announced that it is unable to explain why the 
Cape, with less than 4% of the total British colonial population, absorbed more than 75% of all 
colonial military expenditure. This becomes somewhat of a turning point, because as soon as it is 
established that the local settlers will need to finance their own security, they start to become more 
reluctant to mount aggressive responses to insecurity. 

 
1864 A decision is made that the Transkei will remain a Black reserve, but not for Xhosa people 

exclusively. This means that the main beneficiaries of this reserve are not the original occupants (the 
Gcaleka Xhosa under Sarili ), but rather the 40,000 Mfengu that are persuaded to settle there in 
return for guarantees of British citizenship. An effort is launched to persuade Sandile, now the leader 
of the Ciskei (Gaika) Xhosa, to migrate and settle across the Kei River. This is the foundation of the 
future tensions that exist during the Armed Struggle, eventually leading to Operation Katzen (see 
13/6/1986). 

 
1864 Turton Genealogy: Susannah Robinson, third wife of the Reverend Isaac Turton (Paternal 3rd Great-

Grandfather) dies aged 87. Isaac Turton marries Susannah Robinson, born in 1777, after the death of 
Ann Cowper, his second wife (in 1833). The sadness arising from the repetitive loss of a spouse 
account for the travails mentioned in his obituary (see 13/4/1851).  

 
2/64 John Henry Brand is elected as President of the Orange Free State.  
 

1865 
 
1865 A war erupts between the Sotho and the Orange Free State that lasts until 1868. 
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1865 A group of 30 Mfengu farmers in the Peddie district of the Ciskei become highly successful, farming 
between 500 and 1,000 acres each.  

 
1865 Drought reduces the wool crop and demand for cloth drops as the American Civil War draws to an 

end. Banks are under pressure again, being pushed to the brink of failure, so the future of the country 
as an agricultural settlement starts to be questioned.  

 
1865 The Standard Bank, established four years earlier, is expelled by the Orange Free State Volksraad. 

This leaves the OFS highly vulnerable when diamonds are discovered two years later, triggering a 
massive influx of foreign diggers.  

 
1866 

 
1866 The Transvaal annexes the Tati area of Bechuanaland, causing the Bechuana (Tswana) Dikgosi 

(Chiefs) to appeal to Britain for protection. 
 
16/12/66 A commemorative gathering is held at the site of the Battle of Blood River. This is the first meeting 

of its kind and marks the birth of the early political consciousness that later becomes Afrikaner 
Nationalism with the Battle of Blood River as a centre piece.   

 
1867 

 
1867 The Hopetown Diamond is discovered near the Orange River. Sir Richard Southey, Colonial 

Secretary, makes his famous speech to the Cape Assembly in which he announces that, “this is the 
rock on which the future success of South Africa will be built”, thereby triggering a diamond rush.  

 
1867 The diggers concentrate on the alluvial deposits around the Vaal and the Harts Rivers and names such 

as Debtor’s Hope, Bad Hope, Fool’s Rush and Gong Gong enters the South African lexicon for the 
first time. For a short while the Free Diamond Republic is established at the Klipdrift Diggings with 
Stafford Parker, a former naval man and now owner of a local place of recreation, as President. 
Diggers Law is introduced from the goldfields of Australia and California, regulating the number of 
claims a person has a right to (3 per person each 31 feet square, which can be subdivided into smaller 
plots if the need arose), and sanctioning the “jumping” of claims not worked for three days.  

 
1867 Gold is discovered near Francistown in present day Botswana, followed a short while later by a 

similar discovery in present day Zimbabwe. The find is not significant however as the diggers soon 
learn that the gold has been depleted by an earlier, as yet unknown group of African miners. This 
feeds into the myth of King Solomon’s mines and the Kingdom of Monomatapa.  

 
1867 Chief Faku, head of the Mpondo people that had been displaced by the Mfecane, dies.  
 
1867 Canada becomes a Federal British Dominion, laying the foundation for British thinking about what to 

do with South Africa in the future.  
 
1867 The railway line from Durban to Umgeni is opened.  
 

1868 
 
1868 War between the Sotho and the Orange Free State ends as Moshoeshoe asks Britain for protection, 

calling for possible Annexation by Natal. 
 
12/3/68 The British High Commissioner announces that Basutoland will become a British territory and the 

Basotho people British subjects. 
 

1869 
 
1869 With the death of the Swazi King Mswati, the Pedi and Tsonga wage war against the Swazi people. 

This lasts for a decade.  
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12/2/69 The Convention of Aliwal North is signed giving effect to 

the announcement by the High Commissioner a year 
earlier. 

 
12/10/69 Turton Genealogy: Schalk Dietloff Jacobus Jordaan 

(Maternal Great-Grandfather) is born in Smithfield, 
Orange Free State, to Gert Johannes Jordaan and Maria 
Margaretha van der Merwe. It is likely that his parents 
moved to the Orange Free State immediately after the 
Great Trek, because his parents were married in Craddock 
on 24/12/1843. Schalk becomes a prospector working on 
diamond-tipped rock core boring machines, and goes on to 
work on the Copperbelt in present day Zambia, doing 
much of the prospecting work for what is today known as 
Roan Antelope mine at Luanchia. He dies in Victoria 
Hospital, Fort Victoria, Rhodesia, on 2/5/1916, so he 
moves around a lot during his relatively short life.  

 
1870 

 
1870 Peddie produces a greater agricultural output than the 

district of Albany for the first time, with a group of highly successful Mfengu farmers partly 
responsible for this achievement. 

 
19/3/70 The Convention of Aliwal North is ratified a week after the death of Moshoeshoe. 
 
30/3/70 Turton Genealogy: Joachim Jan Hendrik (also known as John Henry) Cloete (Maternal Great-

Grandfather) is born in the Orange Free State to Frans Cornelis Jacobus Cloete and Hendrina 
Johanna Adriana Vilonel. He goes on to become a prospector, eventually dying in Pilgrims Rest on 
31/7/1936. His name originates from Joachim Jan Hendrik Victor (see 20/10/1765). 

 
1/5/70 Turton Genealogy: Joachim Jan Hendrik (also known as John Henry) Cloete (Maternal Great-

Grandfather) is baptized in Edenburg, Orange Free State.  
 

1871 
 
1871 Tiyo Sogo dies (see 1856). 
  
1871 The Boers create what is known as the Stellaland Republic, across the Keate Line, with its capital at 

Vryburg; and the Goshen Republic, with its capital on the farm Rooigrond near Mafikeng (see 
10/3/1994 and 11/3/1994 for subsequent events around this place).   

 
5/6/71 Turton Genealogy: Johannes Petrus Botha (Maternal Great-Great Grandfather) marries Susara 

Aletta Van Rooyen in Rustenburg, Transvaal. 
 

1872 
 
1872 The Transvaal Republic is officially recognized by the USA and a number of European powers as a 

sovereign state.  
 
1872 The camp population in the diamond fields is estimated to be around 50,000, with 13,000 being of 

European origin. Chief Sekhukhune despatches his brother Marmaree to take up a permanent position 
on the diamond fields, looking after the interests of the Pedi people, who are being attracted as 
workers in their droves. Wages allow Black tribesmen to buy various farming implements, including 
firearms, and also to amass some wealth with which to pay labolo back in the rural areas. This is the 
start of the wage economy and migrant labour system that is set to define South Africa in the century 
to come.  
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1872 In an attempt to stop the theft of diamonds Proclamation 14 introduces a pass-carrying system, based 

on proof of an existing contract of employment.  
 
1872 As the result of growing pressure to limit military expenditure, caused by persistent British military 

dithering, the British War Office put its foot down, stating that unless the Cape moves to responsible 
government where they levy taxes for their own defence, all troops (with the exception of those 
stationed in Simonstown) would be withdrawn. This creates a crisis, so grudgingly, by the smallest 
margin of one vote, Responsible Government is ushered in. This sees John Molteno become 
President, with Christoffel Brand, father of the Orange Free State President, as the Speaker.   

 
1872 A system of public schools is launched for the first time in the Orange Free State. 
 
1872 Mpande dies having proclaimed Cetshwayo as the successor and Chief of the Zulu nation. 

Cetshwayo asserts his new authority by killing thousands of the followers of his half-brother 
Mboyazi, including the murder of Nomantshali, whose only crime is that she is the mother of 
Mthonga, a potential rival to the new Zulu King. By so doing, Cetshwayo ensures that his authority is 
not challenged from within the Zulu nation. 

 
1872 Turton Genealogy: Frans Cornelis Jacobus Cloete (Maternal Great-Great Grandfather) marries 

Hendrina Johanna Adriana Vilonel in the Orange Free State. 
 
14/1/72 Turton Genealogy: Stanley Turton, brother of Jabez Turton (Paternal Great-Grandfather), born in 

Durban in 1853, dies in the home of Jabez Turton aged about 19. This name is later perpetuated 
through both my father and older brother.  

 
2/72 Four Cape legislators, including John Xavier Merriman, arrive as diggers in the Orange Free State 

diamond fields. Accompanying Merriman is a young 18 year old boy, reading for his Matriculation 
from Oxford, by the name of Cecil John Rhodes. Rhodes immediately takes an interest in the 
diamond industry. 

 
16/3/72 Turton Genealogy: Barbara Christina Jacoba Botha (wife of my Maternal Grandfather Johannes 

Petrus Jordaan) is born in the Transvaal to Johannes Petrus Botha and Susara Aletta Van Rooyen. 
 
6/72 The notion that the Cape Colony should annex the potential diamond lands under the control of 

Waterboer and the Griqua people remaining in the Orange Free State is debated and rejected. 
 
17/11/72 Sir Henry Barkly, the British High Commissioner decides to act independently and within his broad 

authority, so he annexes the land belonging to Nicholas Waterboer and his Griqua people, renaming 
these as the Crown Colony of Griqualand West (distinct from Griqualand East that is the new 
home of Adam Kok and his band of displaced Griquas). This act enrages the Orange Free State 
Volksraad, who see it as a reversal of the Bloemfontein Convention (see 2/1854) that expressly 
disclaimed any treaties with native rulers north of the Orange River (see Welsh, 2000:229 who claims 
this date to be 17/11/1871, making it clash with the debate on 6/1872 and therefore illogical). 

 
1873 

 
1873 Turton Genealogy: Anna Sophia Mynhardt Weeber (wife to Wilhelm Pieter Pistorius my Paternal 

Great-Grandfather) is born to Oltman Carel Weeber and (unknown), but the location is not known.  
 
6/3/73 Turton Genealogy: Elizabeth (Elsie) Johanna Erasmus (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), wife of 

Barend Jacobus Engelbrecht, and probably a Trekboer (see 5/11/1790) dies at the age of 83 in 
Wynandskraal, having lived through the social upheaval of the Great Trek. It is not known if she 
participates directly as it is not clear where Wynandskraal is. If it is in the Orange Free State or 
Transvaal, then she participated directly in the Great Trek.   

 
9/73 Cetshwayo is installed as the Zulu King and ruler over 300,000 subjects in a formal ceremony led by 

Sir Theophilus Shepstone.  
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10/73 Langalibalele, the Chief of the Hlubi that had been settled in the foothills of the Drakensberg 

Mountains to act as a barrier against San incursions, becomes prosperous. Controlling a vital link to 
the diamond fields, his people had been remitting cash back home. Some had also been buying guns 
and horses however, increasing the power of Langalibalele to the extent that his new-found 
independence is seen to be a threat by the British. Called upon to register the firearms under his 
control, Langalibalele chooses instead to take flight. This alarms the authorities who send out a patrol 
to bring him back. Under the command of a young officer by the name of Anthony Durnford, the 
patrol goes hopelessly awry with Durnford losing an arm and 5 of his men losing their lives. In a 
panic, the British massacre 200 Hlubi and capture Langalibalele, who is put on trial, found guilty and 
sentenced to death. Commuted to life imprisonment, Langalibalele is despatched to Robben Island. 
This trial sparks outraged protest by Bishop Colenso, turning the whole event into what becomes 
known as the Langalibalele Affair .  

 
19/11/73 Turton Genealogy: Oltman Carel Christiaan Weeber (Paternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) dies in 

Fraserburg aged 63. He was a general dealer and agent during his life (Turton genealogical data).  
 

1874 
 
1874 Mining on the Kimberlite pipe at Kimberley reaches a depth of 100 feet. 
 
1874 The Bulfontein Diggers Association has members from across the colour spectrum.  
 
8/4/74 Turton Genealogy: Clara Turton (sister of my Paternal 2nd Great-Grandparent), daughter of Josiah 

Turton and Jane Elizabeth Raistrick (see 1850), marries Richard Marshall in Kimberley. Records 
show that Richard Marshall was born in 1832, the son of William Marshall and Sarah Beardsall. The 
marriage certificate lists three witnesses: Josiah Turton, a chemist (the bride’s father); E. Turton – 
probably Edwin Raistrick Turton, her brother; and Hannah A. Calvert – probably a friend of the 
bride’s; and further states that the groom is a diamond digger from Kimberley. The marriage takes 
place at the Weslyan Methodist Church in Kimberley located at Du Toit’s Pan. As far as can be 
ascertained no children are born from this marriage. (Microfilm # 1560952, Item # 10: Pat Smith 
darkwing@compudoc.co.za and http://ancestry.mweb.co.za/ ).  

 
24/8/74 Turton Genealogy: Louis Hosea Jordaan (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent), dies in Kroonstad, 

Orange Free State aged 78. He probably participated in the Great Trek at the approximate age of 
40, because he was born on 8/9/1795 and baptized on 14/2/1796 in the Cape Colony.  

 
1875 

 
1875 A book is published by J.C. Brown, a botanist in Cape Town, entitled Hydrology of South Africa; or 

Details of the Former Hydrographic Condition of the Cape of Good Hope, and Causes of its Present 
Aridity, with Suggestions of Appropriate Remedies for this Aridity. This book is published in London 
by Kirkcaldy and becomes the foundation of the subsequent South African Hydraulic Mission that 
seeks to mobilize water as a foundation of future economic growth in an area that is semi-arid and 
fundamentally water constrained.  

 
1875 The Black Flag Revolt takes place in the diamond fields, when the Diggers Protection Association, 

under the leadership of Albury Paddon and a recalcitrant man by the name of Alfred Aylward, 
attempt an armed uprising. This is hastily put down without a shot being fired in anger. 

 
1875 Kgama (Khama), chief of the Bamangwato in Bechuanaland, emerges as a new leader of note. 

Educated by Lutheran missionaries, Khama realizes that the future stability of his people will 
probably best be guaranteed by an alliance with Britain.  

  
1875 The Genootskap van Regte Afrikaners is formed as a nationalist grouping. The first printed 

Afrikaans newspaper is Die Patriot (the Patriot), which is the mouthpiece of the Genootskap van 
Regte Afrikaners.  (See 1856 and 1860 for details of the evolution of the language).  
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24/10/75 Turton Genealogy: Francois Philippus Jacobus Vilonel (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) dies aged 
47 in Edenburg, Orange Free State, after moving into the hinterland immediately after the Great 
Trek (see 1828 and 9/1834).  

 
1876 

 
1876 The Pedi War with the Transvaal takes place. This takes Pedi workers away from the diamond 

fields leaving a temporary labour shortage.  
 
11/5/76 Turton Genealogy: Francois Cornelis Joachim Cloete (Maternal 3rd Great-Grandparent) dies aged 54 

at Daspoort, District Wepener. He migrated to Natal in a group of settlers after the Great Trek. 
 

1877 
 

1877 A second book is published by J.C. Brown, a botanist in Cape Town, entitled Water Supply in South 
Africa and the Facilities for the Storage of it. This is published in Scotland by Oliver Boyd and feeds 
into the South African Hydraulic Mission by emphasizing the need to build dams for the purposes 
of attaining hydrological security in a region that is semi-arid and thus likely to remain under-
developed. Note: This is work that the author continues to perpetuate in the 21st Century (see Turton 
et al., 2003 as an example).  

 
1877 William Gladstone of the Liberal Party in London describes the annexation of the Transvaal as being 

“dishonourable”, but can do nothing about it as his party is not in power (see 1880). 
 
1877 Cecil Rhodes, while a student at Oxford University, draws up his first will. This instructs his 

executors to establish a secret society with the stated purpose of extending British rule globally 
(Meredith, 2007:382).  

 
1/77 Sir Theophilus Shepstone arrives in the Transvaal, tasked with the responsibility of negotiating the 

Annexation of the Transvaal to the British Crown. This violates the Sand River Convention (see 
1/1/1852) and mobilizes Boer public opinion (see 1879).  

 
3/77 Lord Carnarvon, the British Foreign Secretary, appoints Sir Bartle Frere to South Africa to make the 

British vision of federation a political reality. Upon his arrival, Frere sees the Zulu kingdom, 
separated from Natal by the Buffalo River, as being his major obstacle to confederation.  This makes 
Zululand a strategic objective for Britain. Frere sets up a boundary commission to investigate disputes 
with the Zulus. Colonel Durnford (who is killed at the Battle of Isandlwana on 22/1/1879) serves 
on this commission. This commission finds in the Zulu favour, meaning that for the British to achieve 
their strategic objective, they need to subjugate the Zulu nation by other means. This sows the seeds 
for the subsequent Anglo-Zulu War . 

 
25/3/77 Turton Genealogy: Anna Margaretha Mynhardt, wife of Oltman Carel Christiaan Weeber (Paternal 

3rd Great-Grandparent), dies at the home of Mr. G.B. Blockall in Swellendam. 
 
12/4/77 Shepstone announces that the Transvaal has been formally annexed to the British Crown. The formal 

proclamation is read in public by Rider Haggard, the author of the classic book King Solomon’s 
Mines, and a junior clerk under Shepstone.  

 
7/5/77 Lord Kimberley, having heard no news in London of the response by the Boers to the annexation of 

the Transvaal, asks if the annexation took place at all. 
 
7/77 Paul Kruger visits London in his official capacity, but he is treated badly by the British, who do not 

accord him the normal protocol (see 3/1880) that a visiting Prime Minister would expect, putting him 
up in an ordinary hotel. Lord Carnarvon, Colonial Secretary under Disraeli, dismisses Kruger, stating 
over optimistically that most of the Transvaal Boers “welcomed British occupation” (Welsh, 
2000:268). On his return to the Transvaal, Kruger arranges a plebiscite however, and the returns 
yield 6,591 signatures opposed to British annexation, with a mere 587 for such an eventuality. The die 
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is set for a new war between the British and the Boers (First Anglo-Boer War) that will test the now 
deeply entrenched culture of British military dithering to the extreme. 

 
1878 

 
1878 Mining on the Kimberlite pipe at Kimberley reaches a depth of 300 feet, necessitating the need for 

steam driven winches and pumps to drain the workings and move process water from the nearby 
rivers to the mine. This becomes an element of the South African Hydraulic Mission because water 
is scarce in the diamond fields and is rapidly polluted and thus rendered useless or a health hazard to 
the diggers. 

 
1878 The first Afrikaner political movement is born when the Boeren Beschermings Vereening (BMV) 

(Farmers Protection Union) is formed with the stated intention of combating a proposed excise duty 
on wines. This grows to become a political movement articulating the interests of the Boer people.  

 
2/78 At the Battle of Kentani, 500 Xhosa are killed and the skull of Sandile is taken to adorn the 

mantelpiece of Colonel Frederick Carrington (see Welsh, 2000:259). Note: Such is the behaviour of 
the so-called “civilized” British military elite, who dared to call the amaXhosa savages (see 5/1835).  

 
3/78 The Boundary Commission meets at Rorke’s Drift  to determine the border between the Transvaal 

and Zululand, which it settles in favour of the Zulu and commits this to writing. One of the 
participants in this commission is Colonel Durnford (who is killed at the Battle of Isandlwana on 
22/1/1879 in an act of supreme irony).  

 
6/78 Kruger sets off to London again, this time armed with the results of his plebiscite (see 7/1877). Lord 

Carnarvon has since been deposed from office after British elections and the new Colonial Secretary, 
Sir Michael Hicks Beach, is not well disposed to Boers, being informed by his Permanent Under-
Secretary Robert Herbert, that they are “weak and cowardly” (Welsh, 2000:269).  

 
6/78 A small Xhosa rebellion starts, but this is the end of serious Xhosa resistance, and a century of almost 

constant conflict and war. The amaXhosa are by now a broken nation as a result of the Great Cattle 
Killing Delusion, so this rebellion is not sustained.  

 
11/78 Sir Bartle Frere, a dithering British bureaucrat with experience in India, sends a letter to the Queen’s 

Private Secretary, in which he says, “I cannot see anything but disaster in delaying to let the natives 
know that if the English government is non-aggressive it is from a sense of justice, and from no want 
of power” (Welsh, 2000:263). This sets up the background for the ensuing Anglo-Zulu War,  because 
Frere is convinced that it is only a question of time before he will need to “make an example” of 
Cetshwayo.  With two British regiments to spare after the recent Xhosa rebellion, Frere has at his 
disposal 5,000 regular soldiers. Frere’s General, Frederick Thesiger, is champing at the bit and 
confident that his force can overcome any “undisciplined Blacks” even if they come at him in 
numbers. Colonel Durnford is part of this force, but as a more experienced solder and a close friend 
of Colenso, he protests the war and is unsettled by the jingoism of his commanding General. It must 
be noted that Thesiger is a “society” soldier that has seen little real action on the field of battle. The 
son of Lord Chelmsford and set to inherit that title, he is of the conservative opinion that the tried 
and tested stand-and-fire techniques that the British Army had been using for the last two centuries 
are adequate as a tactic in modern war. Little did he know that this theory of his is soon to be tested 
and found to be seriously flawed on the field of battle, in a place that is set to go down in the annals 
of British and South African history as the turning point of the entire Zulu nation. The dice are thrown 
when Frere issues an impossible ultimatum to Cetshwayo, using the excuse of a criminal case to give 
him the right to demand the disbanding of the Zulu army and the abolition of the amabutho system of 
military duty. Frere gives a period of thirty days for these conditions to be met, failing which military 
action will result. The ultimatum passes and Cetshwayo fails to respond, setting in motion a series of 
events that would shock the British nation to the very core, because Frere can now no longer back 
down without losing face. British military dithering is about to be propelled to unprecedented heights 
of incompetence and arrogance (see Battle of Isandlwana on 22/1/1879).  
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11/12/78 The letter containing the ultimatum set by Sir Bartle Frere is read to representatives of the Zulu 
king. They Zulu king is given one month to reply, failing which military action will be taken against 
him.  

 
13/12/78 Expecting the Zulu king (Cetshwayo) to reject Sir Bartle Frere’s ultimatum, British generals are 

ready to begin their advance into Zululand.  
 

1879 
 
1879 The Cape Prime Minister, Gordon Sprigg, insists that all guns owned by Blacks must be handed over 

to the British authorities. This arises from the increase in gun ownership among the Basotho, paid for 
by wages earned on the diamond-fields. Chief Moorosi of the Phuti (a clan of the Basotho) rebels, 
leading to what becomes known as the Gun War, which lasts for six months.  Moorosi is killed and 
decapitated, with “pompous little Sprigg, describing himself as Premier and Master of the Colony, 
then attempting to browbeat all the Basotho into surrendering their weapons” (Welsh, 2000:277).  

 
1879 A review of customs and tariffs imposed on European goods suddenly marginalizes Germany by 

imposing punitive duties on trade. This causes the German government to start looking for colonies 
that they can use as leverage in the customs negotiations. The Kolonialverein (Colonial Union) is 
founded as a result.  

 
1879 As a result of the Annexation of the Transvaal in 1877, Boer public opinion reaches a level where 

protest starts to occur. Two protest meetings are held by the Boers at Wonderfontein and 
Kleinfontein.  

 
1879 After a decade of war between the Swazi, Pedi and Tsonga people, General Sir Garnet Wolseley 

forms an alliance with the Swazi people and uses them to defeat the Pedi.  
 
1879 Bambatha, supported by Sigananda (who fought alongside Shaka) and Mehlokazulu, foments an 

uprising. Known as the Bambatha Rebellion, it starts when two white policemen are killed in Natal. 
One is mutilated (Sergeant Brown) and his genitals are turned into magic potion that makes the users 
invincible (see 10/6/1879 for the outcome).   

 
1879 The Anglo-Zulu War  crushes Zulu resistance to British hegemony in the region after the initial Zulu 

victory at the Battle of Isandlwana. During this war the last remaining relative of Napoleon 
Bonaparte is killed by a Zulu spear, thus ending the French dynasty on a dusty battlefield in Africa. 

 
11/1/79 A military force of 4,850 men known as the Centre Column under the command of Lord Chelmsford 

cross into Zululand at Rorke’s Drift . Of these, 2,000 soldiers are from the 1st and 2nd Battalions of 
the 24th Regiment of Foot, around 1,000 are white colonial volunteers from Natal, and the rest are 
from the Natal Native Contingent (NNC) (mostly those scattered by the Mfecane). Chelmsford is 
Eton-educated and has a military background forged in India. Two other columns also cross into 
Zululand, bringing the total invasion force numbers to 18,000 men, 7,000 of which are regular British 
Army soldiers. The plan is for the three columns to converge on Ulundi, the Zulu Royal Kraal.  

 
12/1/79 A small raiding party under the command of a young Lieutenant named Henry Harford , an avid 

beetle collector, despatched from Lord Chelmsford’s Centre Column, attacks the kraal of a Zulu 
chief called Sechayo. The skirmish is brief and the British emerge victorious, boosting their self-
confidence. What they do not know however, is that Sechayo is an unimportant Chief and the 
skirmish is no real test of the battle worthiness of the Zulu nation. 

 
17/1/79 A Zulu impi of around 30,000 warriors moves out from Ulundi, under orders by King Cetshwayo 

that are translated by David Rattray (1997) as follows: “I am sending you out against the whites, who 
have invaded Zululand and driven away our cattle. You are to go against the column at Rorke’s 
Drift , and drive it away into Natal. … You will attack by daylight, as there are enough of you to eat it 
up [sic], and you will march slowly so as not to tire yourself”. Significantly, King Cetshwayo 
specifically orders his commanders not to fight on the “Day of the Dead Moon” (a solar eclipse), 
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because such days are considered to be bad omen’s in Zulu culture. A solar eclipse is scheduled for 
22 January 1879. 

 
20/1/79 Lord Chelmsford and his invasion force set up camp at Isandlwana, a place that is about to become 

famous in the history of both Great Britain and South Africa. The camp is considered a temporary 
place, so fixed defences are not prepared, contrary to prevailing military doctrine. Around 850 tents 
are erected, along with 250 wagons and other logistics vehicles, covering an area of half a mile long 
by 300 yards wide. The British are confident, believing that the Zulu’s are unlikely to actually fight, 
so some commanders lament the fact that they are being denied a chance for glorious battle. A toast is 
proposed in the Officers Mess of the 24th Regiment of Foot, that they would not repeat the saga when 
in a skirmish with the Sikhs in India in 1848, the Queens Colour was lost. During the ensuing meal, a 
scout enters the camp and reports that King Cetshwayo had ordered a force of 30,000 warriors to 
defend the Zulu Kingdom.    

 
21/1/79 Lord Chelmsford despatches a reconnaissance force of 150 colonial volunteers and around 1,000 

members of the NNC, under the overall command of Major John Dartnell . They find small bands of 
Zulu warriors who skirmish, but do not stand and fight. Later the same day, Dartnell  encounters a 
larger force that tries the anticipated tactic of luring the British into a trap by engaging and then 
rapidly disengaging, to create the impression of being vanquished so as to lure the enemy into a 
prepared killing ground. Dartnell  sets up a temporary camp at the Hlazakazi Heights, overlooking a 
valley and a component of the encamped Zulu force. Dartnell concludes that this larger Zulu force 
will threaten Chelmsford’s advance on Ulundi, so he prepares a report to his commanding officer, 
which reads, “My Lord, my Lord, these people want to fight” (Mills & Williams, 2006:48). This 
message is despatched by horseman, arriving at Isandlwana at 01:30.  

 
22/1/79 On receipt of Major Dartnell ’s message, Lord Chelmsford interprets it as meaning that the main 

Zulu force had been located (an error that history has subsequently shown), so he despatches one of 
the battalions of the 24th Regiment of Foot, being supported by 4 of his 6 artillery pieces (seven-
pounder guns). Chelmsford also orders Colonel Anthony Durnford, left in command of the 
temporary camp at Rorke’s Drift , to come forward and reinforce the camp at Isandlwana.  At dawn, 
Lord Chelmsford moves out with another force of 1,100 men, ostensibly to support the 1,600 he had 
already despatched, believing that the main Zulu force would be engaged by them. This leaves around 
1,800 men (or 30% of the fighting force) at Isandlwana. In his haste, Chelmsford fails to leave clear 
orders about the chain of command in his absence, creating confusion in the hours to come. 
Chelmsford reaches Dartnell ’s position at about 06:00, with the intention of bringing the Zulu force 
to contact. On arrival however, the Zulu force that had so worried Dartnell , seems to have vanished. 
A small impi is spotted in the north-east so chase is given. Chelmsford becomes irritated as the day 
wears on. Back at Isandlwana, the absence of clear orders now becomes an issue as Colonel Henry 
Pulleine and Colonel Anthony Durnford ponder the next move. Who is actually in command of the 
camp? While this is being sorted out, a patrol under the command of Captain George Shepstone, 
while chasing a band of fleeing Zulu’s, stumbles upon the main force and recoils in terror as 40,000 
resting Zulu warriors appear in a ravine beyond the plateau that they had been charging across. It is 
this force that is sitting out the Day of the Dead Moon, consistent with their orders. Shepstone’s men 
panic and fire a volley of shots before beating a hasty retreat. The Zulu commanders, fearing that their 
tactical advantage of surprise has now been lost, decide to attack. Back at Isandlwana, Colonel 
Pulleine is given a message from Lord Chelmsford, stating that a new site had been located, and he 
(Pulleine), must strike camp and advance to that new location. Shortly after this, Captain Shepstone 
arrives with the news of the recently-discovered main Zulu force. Faced with this new turn of events, 
Colonel Pulleine writes a message to be sent back to Lord Chelmsford stating: “Heavy firing to the 
left of our camp. Cannot move camp at present” (Mills & Williams, 2006:49). In an act of 
insubordination, Captain Gardiner writes a note to Major Clery  (an officer on patrol with Lord 
Chelmsford), that Shepstone had come in for reinforcements and that the whole remaining British 
contingent was too thinly spread out to make an effective defensive stand (Rattray, 1997). Both of 
these messages reach Lord Chelmsford after the Battle of Isandlwana is over. As Pulleine and 
Gardiner  watch, a black snake-like object erupts across the horizon. The snake rapidly splits into two 
as the horns of the bull – standard Zulu military doctrine called iziMpondo Zenkhunzi (horns and 
chest of the bull) – fall into place as a prelude to battle.  When ready they wait for the orders from 
their commander, mTshingwayo kaMahola Khoza, a 70-year old warrior of great experience. On 
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his command 15,000 warriors lurch forward in a perfectly disciplined advance on the stretched-out 
British line and battle is joined. Durnford  and his small force of 200 riflemen, supported by the 
remaining 2 seven-pounder guns, hold off the advance of the left horn of the impi. Under the early 
afternoon sun, the British soldiers start to run out of ammunition, resulting in a brief lull in fighting. 
The Zulu’s are encouraged by this and immediately rally when Ndlaka, a senior Induna, gives a 
stirring rendition of Cetshwayo’s orders, saying: “You did not say you were going to lie down. The 
little branch of leaves that beats out the fire (Cetshwayo’s traditional name) did not order this” 
(Rattray, 1997). Seconds later Ndlaka is shot in the head, but after his rally re-mobilizes the 
advancing warriors. At 14:29 the solar eclipse changes the battlefield into an eerie place of darkness, 
mystery and death. By 15:00 the battle is over and 727 British troops, along with 52 officers and 471 
black troops lie dead, many disembowelled as is customary practice (a process known as Mcqambula 
in which the power of the deceased passes to the victor as the gall bladder is removed and the 
contents drunk). A small band of retreating 
British, anxious to save the Queens Colours 
of the 24th Regiment, are over-run and killed 
as they make for Rorke’s Drift , making that 
unit the only one in British history to have 
lost their colours twice in battle. A report in 
the Natal Mercury at the time speaks of the 
fears of the surviving soldiers: “Oh! How 
dreadful to all were those fearful hours, 
knowing that we were standing and lying 
among the bodies of our own comrades, 
though how many we little knew then. Many 
and deep were the sobs … at discovering, 
even in the dim morning light, the bodies of 
dear friends brutally massacred, stripped of all clothing, disembowelled, and in some cases with their 
heads cut off. How the night passed, I fancy few of us knew …” (Laband & Knight (1996) cited by 
Mills & Williams, 2006:53). In the Battle of Isandlwana (image reproduced through the courtesy of 
the Wikipedia Commons), the British suffer their largest single tactical defeat for half a century, 
losing the entire regiments of the First Battalion of the Twenty-Fourth and the South Wales 
Borderers, along with a large number of supporting troops. Among the dead is Colonel Durnford, 
who along with Colenso (Durnford  is engaged to Colenso’s daughter Frances), originally protested 
against the war, and was a member of Frere’s Boundary Commission that found in favour of the 
Zulu’s. At the height of the battle, when there is a full eclipse of the sun, bringing near total darkness 
to the battlefield, an almost supernatural element is given to the Battle of Isandlwana. The final 
casualties of this catastrophic battle are 52 officers dead, along with 1,277 other ranks on the British 
side (i.e. near total annihilation), with 3,000 Zulu’s dead and another 3,000 wounded. Mills & 
Williams (2006:56) note that while this is a stunning Zulu victory, it lays the foundation for their 
ultimate defeat at the Battle of Ulundi (July 1879), which crushed the Zulu as an independent entity, 
allowing for the eventual start of 110 years of unchallenged white domination in South Africa.  

 
22/1/79 News of the annihilation of the British forces at the Battle of Isandlwana arrives at Rorke’s Drift  at 

15:30. Fearing imminent attack, a small British unit prepares to make a stand at Rorke’s Drift . At 
17:00 the advancing Zulu force has crossed the Buffalo River, news of which triggers a mass 
desertion of the NNC contingent at Rorke’s Drift , depleting the original force of 450 to 139, 45 of 
whom are ill. The British force of 139 is attacked by a Zulu Impi of between 4,000 and 5,000 under 
the command of Prince Dabulamanzi kaMpande (Cetshwayo’s half-brother), whose warriors had 
not yet bathed their assegais in blood and are thus champing at the bit for this rite of passage into 
Zulu manhood, making the fighting particularly vicious. This battle is remarkable in many ways, 
partly because it is fought by the sick, wounded and non-combat rear-echelon staff under the 
command of Lt. John Rouse Merriot Chard (the John Chard Medal was issued to soldiers of the 
SADF during the period the author was operational as a soldier), and also partly because of the myth 
and legend that it has spawned. One of these myths is that the Zulu warriors, having been repulsed by 
Chard and his men, pay homage to the fallen and “salute the bravery of the noble British fighting 
men” before leaving the field of battle. The final outcome is 17 British dead with 15 wounded, as 
opposed to 550 Zulu’s killed on the field of battle, with around another 500 wounded or killed after 
word is received of the annihilation of the British forces at Isandlwana, so these can be regarded as 
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revenge killings outside of the battle itself. The Battle of Rorke’s Drift  results in the largest number 
of Victoria Crosses ever being awarded for any single action in British military history – eleven in all 
– with commentators like Welsh 
(2000:264) suggesting that this is a 
“hysterical case of overcompensation”. In 
short, after the largest single defeat in 
British military history for half a century, 
they needed to find some heroes to offset 
the devastating losses of the Battle of 
Isandlwana. Having noted this, it must 
be said that the British forces fought very 
bravely at the Battle of Rorke’s Drift  
and they richly deserve whatever honour 
is still being bestowed on them to this 
very day. A famous painting of the event 
by Adolph Alphonse de Neuville that 
hangs in the New South Wales Art Gallery shows aspects of this action (reproduced through the 
courtesy of Wikipedia Commons).  

 
12/2/79 News of the defeat of the British at the Battle of Isandlwana reaches London as the cost of decades 

of endemic British military dithering becomes apparent. An etching is carried on the front page of the 
newspapers that shocks the British public and galvanizes both the Commonwealth and War Office 
into action.  Reinforcements are hastily mobilized and sent to Natal. 

 
12/3/79 A Zulu impi ambushes and destroys a British force of 106 on the banks of the Intombe River. Of the 

original British force 62 are killed, while the Zulu’s sustain only light casualties. This is known as the 
Battle of Intombe and feeds into the Zulu belief in their own invincibility.   

28/3/79 At the Battle of Hlobane, a British force of 675 men under the command of Colonel Evelyn Wood, 
is instructed to engage with a Zulu force in order to take the pressure off Lord Chelmsford and his 
men active in another field of operations. The Zulu force of around 25,000 engages the British who 
lose 225 (Welsh (2000:264) reports lighter casualties with 15 officers and 79 men killed on the field 
of battle) with the Zulu’s sustaining light casualties. One remarkable element of this action goes 
down in history when Trooper George Mossop and his horse Warrior leap off Devil’s Pass on the 
mountain at Hlobane to flee from the wrath of the Zulu onslaught. This is captured in a painting 
(reproduced by the courtesy of Wikipedia Commons). 
Trooper Mossop survives and sees action again at the 
Battle of Khambula, but his horse Warrior dies of the 
injuries sustained in the jump. No eyewitness account is 
known to have been garnered from the Zulus on Hlobane 
Mountain itself, but an outsider's perspective was provided 
after the war by Mehlokazulu, a surviving veteran of the 
inGobamakhosi ibutho attached to the main impi: "The 
English force went up the mountain and did not see us; we 
came round the mountain. Those who were on the side of 
the mountain where the sun sets succeeded in getting out 
quickly; those who were on the side where the sun rises 
were driven the other way, and thrown over the krantzes 
[sic]. There was a row of white men thrown over the 
krantzes, their ammunition was done, they did not fire, and 
we killed them without their killing any of our men; a great 
many were also killed on the top, they were killed by the 
people on the mountain. We did not go up the mountain, 
but the men whom the English forces had attacked 
followed them up. They [the British] had beaten the 
abaQulusi, and succeeded in getting all the cattle of the 
whole neighbourhood which was there, and would have taken away the whole [herd] had we not 
rescued them."  
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29/3/79 A Zulu force engages Colonel Eveyln Wood and his encamped forces at the Battle of Khambula. 
The British force of 2,000 is in a defended position and is attacked by a Zulu force of around 25,000 
under the command of Ntshinqwayo Khoza. After the battle the British casualties are the lightest 
thus far in the Anglo-Zulu War  (29 dead and 54 wounded), but significantly the Zulu impi’s are 
repulsed. This battle is a turning point in the Anglo-Zulu War because the vulnerability of the Zulu’s 
fighting against a well defended position becomes evident. 

 
4/79 Bartle Frere, deeply involved in the disastrous Anglo-Zulu War , finds time to meet with the 

Transvaal Boers at Erasmus Spruit outside Pretoria. Frere threatens the Boers by saying that the 
British have a new weapon, the lyddite shell, capable of great destruction. With little accomplished 
Frere leaves with a parting statement that as long as the sun shines, the Transvaal will remain British 
territory.  

 
2/4/79 During the Battle of Gingindlovu, fought on the banks of the Inyezane River, a British force of 

5,670 under the overall command of Lord Chelmsford, engages a Zulu force of 12,000 under the 
command of Somopho kaZikhala. The overall results of the total battle are 1,000 Zulu’s killed 
against 11 British dead with 48 wounded. This is the first clear British victory in the Anglo-Zulu 
War . Welsh (2000:265) gives a somewhat distorted view of the overall battle (in favour of the 
British) by stating that Thesiger’s men kill more than 3,000 Zulu’s with the loss of only 1 of their 
own. 

 
10/6/79 Most of the insurgents that had been mobilized as part of the Bambatha Rebellion are killed by 

heavy rifle and artillery fire when they are trapped in a mountain gorge. Welsh (2000:362) notes that 
the genitals of the murdered Sergeant Brown (see reference to the Bambatha Rebellion in 1879) 
seem not to have protected them from the shrapnel. 

 
4/7/79 At the Battle of Ulundi, a British force of 5,317 under the overall command of Lord Chelmsford 

engages a Zulu force of 20,000. Significantly, Trooper George Mossop, a veteran of the Battle of 
Hlobane and the Battle of Khambula, fights in the Battle of Ulundi too. The outcome is a decisive 
British victory with 10 dead and 87 wounded as opposed to 1,500 Zulu’s killed in action. Welsh 
(2000:265) reports on a part of this battle by saying that the last of the Zulu impi’s throw themselves 
headlong into an attack against Thesiger and his men in a 
well defended position, with the support of a battery of 
rapid firing field artillery and newly-acquired Gatling 
machine guns. The Zulu attack is repulsed with more than 
1,000 Zulu dead for the loss of only 12 British.  Sensing 
victory, Chelmsford orders the total destruction of the 
Royal Kraal at Ulundi, thus crushing the Zulu nation as a 
cohesive fighting force, ending the Anglo-Zulu War . 
(Image reproduced by the courtesy of the Wikipedia 
Commons).  

 
28/8/79 Cetshwayo is captured by the British and is exiled to Robben Island. This ends the Anglo-Zulu 

War . 
 
14/12/79 Turton Genealogy: Sarah Catharina Viljoen (future wife of Joachim Jan Hendrik (also known as 

John Henry) Cloete (Maternal Great-Grandfather)) is born in the Cape Colony. 
 

1880 
 
1880 The Gun War in Basutoland causes a temporary disruption to labour in the diamond fields.  
 
1880 Cecil John Rhodes is elected to the Cape Parliament as a representative of the Barkly West seat in 

Griqualand West. 
 
1880 The Afrikaner Bond  (Afrikaner League) is founded by the same people (the du Toit’s) that founded 

the Genootskap van Regte Afrikaners (see 1875). The Afrikaner Bond  goes on to become the only 
organized political party and the most powerful force in the Cape Parliament (Welsh, 2000:288). 
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1880 As a result of growing protest action arising from the British annexation of the Transvaal (see 1877 

and 1879), 3,000 Boers assemble under the old Republican flag, in direct defiance of the British High 
Commissioner in the Cape, Sir Garnet Wolseley. A while later, a dispute erupts in Potchefstroom 
when Piet Bezuidenhout refuses to pay a 27 Pound tax, so his wagon is seized and put on auction by 
the authorities. This sparks an armed uprising when around 100 Boers under General Piet Cronje 
intervene to return the wagon to its rightful owner. This sparks off additional protest when the British 
seem powerless to intervene, so a gathering of 10,000 Boers takes place at Paardekraal (Krugersdorp) 
(see 16/12/1880) (Mills & Williams, 2006).  

 
1880 The British Government changes as Benjamin Disraeli, the Tory leader, is replaced as Prime Minister 

by William Gladstone of the Liberal Party. Gladstone described the annexation of the Transvaal as 
being “dishonourable” in 1877, so he recalls Sir Garnet Wolseley (British High Commissioner) to 
London as one of the first acts of his new government.   

 
1880 The final campaign in a century of Xhosa resistance to colonial intrusion is triggered by the Cape 

government’s disarmament initiatives. This brief action unites Sotho, Pondomisi and even some 
Thembu, but it is unable to sustain itself. Commenting on the century of Xhosa warfare, Welsh 
(2000:260) concludes that, “the Xhosa wars were a much more prolonged struggle than that of 
Moshoeshoe, and were even fought with more ingenuity and skill than the Zulu ever mustered, but 
they ended in unmitigated failure and bitter division”.  

 
1880 Boer settlers move into Pondoland in what is known as the Thembuland Trek. Pondoland is a quasi-

independent state at this time.  
 
1880 The Thembuland Rebellion occurs, being put down by the British with the aid of Ngangelizwe, a 

direct forefather of Nelson Mandela (Welsh, 2000:503).  
 
3/80 Cetshwayo is received by Queen Victoria at Windsor Castle and given all the royal honours befitting 

a monarch (especially a defeated one, which the British generally love according to Welsh, 
2000:266). 

 
4/80 The Disraeli government loses the British elections.  
 
23/4/80 A Liberal government is sworn in to power in Whitehall. 
 
10/5/80 Paul Kruger writes a letter to Gladstone reminding him of the British promise “not to [use] acts of 

crushing force, but by the way of justice and good faith”, to which the letter is passed on to Lord 
Kimberly with the comments that the Prime Minister is, “at a loss how to answer it” (Welsh, 
2000:270).  

 
12/5/80 The British Cabinet decides to renege on the promise made to Paul Kruger. War becomes almost an 

inevitable outcome as a result of this.  
 
8/80 Sir Hercules Robinson arrives as the new British High Commissioner and settles the squabble that 

resulted in the ill-conceived Gun War.  
 
10/80 The resident magistrate at Qumbu is killed, triggering a small but ferocious skirmish with the Xhosa 

people. It ends in 3/1881 (Welsh, 2000:260).   
 
10/12/80 Kruger calls for a meeting of the Transvaal Volksraad to discuss the deteriorating situation with the 

British. 
 
16/12/80 At a protest meeting held by 10,000 Boers at Paardekraal (Krugersdorp), it is decided to re-establish 

the Boer Republic with Heidelberg as its capital. The Boers lay a stone cairn (still present to this day) 
(Mills & Williams, 2006) as they pledge their support to reach this objective (a practice my own 
generation indulged in before military action in the 1980’s). The Proclamation of Paardekraal is 
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made, martial law is declared and the Volksraad elects a Triumvirate leadership (Kruger, Joubert and 
Pretorius). The date is significant as it coincides with the Battle of Blood River (16/12/1838). 

 
20/12/80 The First Battle of the First War of Independence (also known in some circles as the First Anglo-

Boer War) takes place four days after the Proclamation of Paardekraal at Bronkhorstspruit when a 
Boer force attack a column under the command of Colonel Philip Anstruther  (94th Regiment), while 
it is redeploying from Lydenburg to Pretoria. The battle is bizarre in many ways, because General 
Piet Joubert gives Anstruther  an ultimatum, before fighting starts. Anstruther  ignores the 
ultimatum so battle is joined when the British band plays God Save the Queen. A brief skirmish 
ensues leaving 57 British dead with 100 wounded against the Boer losses of 2 killed and 5 wounded. 
All of the British officers are casualties and the average number of wounds per soldier is 5. The dead 
are buried on a farm where they had just purchased peaches, and the existence today of an orchard 
there is said to have arisen from the peach pips in the dead solders pockets (Mills & Williams, 2006). 
This known as the Battle of Bronkhorstspruit .  

 
27/12/80 During this week, George Colley, the British High Commissioner on his first tour of duty as a 

commander of military forces in Natal, despatches a force of 235 men, including a contingent from 
the elite Connaught Rangers. They make their way to the Transvaal from Natal, but are ambushed by 
a small Boer force, killing more than half of the Connaught Rangers, with the rest of the force 
surrendering (Mills & Williams, 2006).  

 
1881 

 
1881 The British become embroiled in Egypt during a nationalist revolt against the Khedive. This focuses 

British Colonial Office attention on North Africa, taking their eye off the ball in South Africa.  
 
1881 John Tengo Jabavu, an Mfengu with a Lovedale education, is appointed as editor of the Isigidimi 

Sama Xosa (The Xhosa Messenger) at Lovedale.    
 
1881 With the establishment of a stock exchange, more than 10 Million Pounds Sterling is raised for the 

Kimberley diamond fields, mainly from the Cape. 
 
1881 Bartle Frere notes that the discovery of a “really good goldfield” will trigger a massive influx of 

foreign diggers, whose energies would serve to “remove all difficulties, political as well as physical, 
which at present limit this branch of the industry” (Welsh, 2000:306).  

 
1/81 George Colley advances to the Transvaal from Natal with 1,000 men and 6 guns. Boer scouts 

monitor the progress of Colley’s column and decide that they will be most vulnerable as they cross 
the mountain passes between Newcastle (the author’s place of birth) and Volksrus. The British are 
considered to be particularly vulnerable at Laing’s Neck, east of Majuba, so 1,500 Boer forces dig 
themselves in at tactically-significant points. When Colley arrives, he orders the Boer forces to 
disperse. They ponder this and make a counter-offer. The Boer forces send the following response to 
Colley: “We declare that we would be satisfied with a rescinding of the Annexation [of the 
Transvaal], and the restoration of the South African Republic [the formal name of the old 
Transvaal]  under a protectorate of Her Majesty the Queen, so that once a year the British flag shall 
be hoisted … If your Excellency resolves to reject this, we have only to submit to our fate; but the 
Lord will provide” (Mills & Williams, 2006:64). This suggests that the Boers do not actually want to 
fight and a negotiated settlement is entirely possible.  

 
1/1/81 Sir George Colley (British High Commissioner in Natal) writes a letter to his sister in England, 

referring to the events of the past week and in particular the Battle of Bronkhorstspruit (see 
20/12/1880). In this letter he says the following: “This is a sad and anxious New Year for us all here, 
as you may imagine. The last of the troops I have available, including some drafts only three days 
arrived from England, are marching this morning, and I start in a few days to take command and try 
to bring the Boers to battle, and relieve our garrisons at Potchefstroom and Pretoria. The disaster to 
the 94th Regiment (at Bronkhorstspruit) has not only been a painful loss to us of many good officers 
and men, but has changed the whole aspect of affairs – a sort of Isandlwana (see the Battle of 
Isandlwana on 22/11/1879) on a smaller scale” (Mills & Williams, 2006:64). This offers some 
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insight into the morale in the British forces, and also gives an idea of the scale of the defeat being felt, 
after what is a relatively small skirmish (Battle of Bronkhorstspruit ), rather than a major set-piece 
battle. This mindset sets the scene for the coming Battle of Majuba (27/2/1881).  

 
28/1/81 Turton Genealogy: Johannes Petrus Botha (Maternal Great-Great Grandfather) dies in Laingsnek, 

Natal, aged 38 having moved around a lot in his short life.  
 
27/2/81 At the Battle of Majuba, a British force under the command of Sir George Colley, including the 

Gordon Highlanders, the Fifty-Eighth Northamptonshire’s and Bluejacket’s, with support of artillery, 
rockets (a new invention) and Gatling guns (also newly invented machines of mass destruction), 
meets an irregular Boer force. Sir George is now High Commissioner and Governor of the Transvaal 
and Natal and thus supreme commander of British forces in South Africa. Colley is also a Sandhurst 
Professor, and thus an academic soldier more than a battle-hardened one, with a singular claim to 
fame being the author to the Encyclopaedia Britannica of the entry “army”. In that lengthy tome, 
Colley disposes of the concept of a “militia” by saying, “History abounds with lessons that such 
forces can never carry out sustained operations against trained armies. They may show brilliant 
courage; but they want the mutual knowledge and reliance, the constancy in defeat, and the instinctive 
discipline which can be acquired by habit alone … opposed to trained armies, they invite defeat”. At 
the end of the Battle of Majuba, the Boer “militia” is victorious with 93 British dead, including Sir 
George himself killed by a single shot to the heat, for the loss of only one Commando rider. Welsh 
(2000:271-2) refers to panic-stricken Highlanders, running down the slopes of Majuba, to become the 
icon of British humiliation, saying that, “it was Colley’s own impatience and folly that had led him to 
disaster at Majuba”. This is a classic example of British military dithering.  

 
28/1/81 Sir George Colley decides to reject the Boer terms (see 1/1881) and opens fire with a 20-minute 

artillery barrage. This is ineffective, but Colley orders an assault under the command of Colonel 
Bonar Deane of the 58th Regiment, with support from cavalry. The British infantry advance in 
straight lines of red-coated men, in a bizarre form of war totally unsuited to Africa. Orders are given 
to fix bayonets and the Boer forces open fire, killing most of the British officers, including Colonel 
Deane. The survivors are recalled by Colley, but he has lost 73 men killed and 111 wounded. The 
Boer casualties at this stage are 14 dead and 27 wounded. It is during this skirmish that the colours of 
the 58th Regiment are carried into battle for the last time. H. Rider Haggard writes of these events 
afterwards as follows: “What Sir Colley’s real objective was in exposing himself to the attack has 
never transpired. It can hardly have been to clear the road, as he says in his despatch, because the road 
was not held by the enemy, but only visited occasionally by their patrols. The result of the battle was 
to make the Boers, whose losses were trifling, more confident than ever, and to greatly depress our 
soldiers. Sir George had now lost between three and four hundred men out of his entire column of 
little over a thousand, which was thereby entirely crippled” (Mills & Williams, 2006:64). In a 
separate incident, a British supply column from Pietermaritzburg is ambushed and looted by the 
Boers.  

 
8/2/81 Sir George Colley, now frustrated by the Boers, decides to hunt them down to settle the score, 

having faced two significant defeats already. A British force of 300 men, supported by 38 cavalrymen 
and 4 guns, engage the Boers at the Battle of Skuinshoogte near Ingogo.  The Boer commando under 
the command of General Nicolaas Smit, engages the British, and with accurate fire from the saddle, 
wipes out all the artillerymen, targeting officers specifically (Mills & Williams, 2006). During this 
engagement the British lose 70 men killed and 63 wounded against 8 Boer dead and 6 wounded. 
Colley writes a letter to Smit, offering him medical assistance (this is still a gentleman’s war and a far 
cry from the Scorched Earth policy of the Second Anglo-Boer War). 

 
16/2/81 Sir George Colley is ordered by cable to offer a ceasefire and an invitation to talks to President Paul 

Kruger of the Transvaal. Colley is told to inform Kruger that, “if the Boers will desist from armed 
opposition, we [the British] shall be quite ready to appoint commissions with extensive powers … 
[and] … if this proposal is accepted, you are authorized to agree to [a] suspension of hostilities” 
(Mills & Williams, 2006:73). In a second cable, Colley is told that, “if Kruger accepted a ceasefire 
[he] was not to make another attempt on Laing’s Nek or try to proceed into the Transvaal, and that 
Kruger had to be given a reasonable time to reply” (Mills & Williams, 2006:73). 
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23/2/81 Sir George Colley, having been constrained by General Sir Evelyn Wood, now with a force 
comprising an additional 2,000 men, comprising the Gordon Highlanders (92nd Regiment), a Naval 
Brigade and 2 Gatling machine-guns, 2 nine-pounder artillery pieces and a cavalry troop detached 
from the 15th Hussars, again looks for contact with the Boer forces. Wood, having been convinced by 
Colley that no more engagement will happen until additional British reinforcements arrive, moves to 
a position on the Thukela River. Colley, for reasons still speculated on today, decides not to honour 
his agreement with Wood however, and decides to seize the tactical initiative by capturing high 
ground on the mountain called aMajuba (isiZulu for “hill of the doves”) that dominates the entire 
region. Mills & Williams (2006) note that consensus is that Colley wants to restore British honour 
and his own reputation, and this drives his decision.  

 
26/2/81 Sir George Colley drafts a letter to his wife saying: “I am going out tonight to try and seize the 

Majuba Hill, which commands the right of the Boer position, and leave this behind in case I should 
not return.” (Mills & Williams, 2006:65). Colley then leads a force from his camp at Mount Prospect, 
departing just before midnight. This force is under orders to move silently and carry no lights lest the 
Boers should be aroused. Passing the house of farmer R.C. O’Neil (still present today), they disturb a 
dog that starts barking. They then make their way in silence up the slopes of Nkwelo Mountain. At 
this point elements of the 60th Rifles are left in position. The force then follows a linking ridge where 
two companies of the 92nd Regiment are deployed.  

 
27/2/81 Now, in the early hours of the morning, Colley and the remaining elements of his original assault 

force move onto the south side of Majuba. The going is tough and the trail very steep. Zulu scouts 
lose their way, but the assault party recovers and they continue their advance. The final push for the 
summit is done on hands and knees, because it is so steep, and each soldier is carrying a rifle, 
bayonet, 70 rounds of ammunition, a greatcoat, blanket, waterproof sheet, a water bottle and three 
days rations (Mills & Williams, 2006). The assault party also has picks, shovels, hammers and pliers. 
The first troops reach the summit at around 03:30, with the last arriving just as the sun starts to rise. A 
total of 370 men reach the summit. At this time Colley expresses his satisfaction, but then makes a 
series of decisions that are still speculated on today. Firstly, he does no additional reconnaissance. 
Secondly, he does not bring his artillery into position (high ground is only tactically relevant if 
artillery can be placed there to command a wide arc of fire). Finally, he fails to prepare defensive 
positions (the troops have picks and shovels but are not ordered to prepare entrenchments of any sort). 
As dawn breaks the Boer forces are totally unaware that Colley is on the top of Majuba. As Colley 
signals his safe arrival using a flare, Hendrina Joubert, wife of General Piet Joubert, notices from 
her position in the nearby laager. General Joubert orders an assault under the command of General 
Nicolaas Smit with 180 Boer volunteers. At 06:30 Smit’s assault force moves out in silence. The 
British, apparently resting after their heavy climb and not yet deployed in any defensive positions, 
remain blissfully unaware of the Boer assault. At 08:00 the first Boer shots are fired, using a tactic 
known as fire and movement (something used by the SADF in combat during the 1970’s and 1980’s), 
with deadly accuracy. Indications are that Colley remains unaware of the gravity of his situation, 
because during mid-morning he sends a heliograph signal to Mount Prospect saying, “All 
comfortable, Boers wasting ammunition, One man wounded in foot” (Mills & Williams, 2006:68). At 
10:30 Colley and his officers inspect the south-western perimeter of the summit of Majuba in order to 
decide on defensive emplacements. A lone Boer rifleman fires at the group of officers, narrowly 
missing. Colley turns to Colonel Stewart and asks him what range the Boers are firing from. Stewart 
raises his binoculars and declares that the Boer fired from 900 yards. At that moment a second shot 
rings out and Colley’s Second-in-Command, Commander Romilly of the Naval Brigade, drops, 
mortally wounded. The loss of Romilly  causes a rapid erosion of morale among the British troops. 
The Boer forces, now in the final stages of their assault, are out of sight of the Gordon Highlanders, 
because of un-reconnoitred dead ground (the British might have occupied the summit but there are 
large swathes of land they could not see from their position due to the steepness of the slope). They 
advance despite heavy but inaccurate British fire. The same happens on the eastern side where 
General Christiaan de Wet and his small force engage the 58th Regiment.  In a final assault, the 
Boers summit the mountain and the British panic, retreating in chaos, sliding and slithering down the 
steep slopes of Majuba. At 13:00 the battle is over and Colley is dead with a gunshot wound to the 
head. Captain Robertson and the 92nd Regiment, not yet committed to battle, are ordered to withdraw 
and take casualties. The Battle of Majuba is a resounding victory for the Boer forces, with the 
British losing 92 killed, 134 wounded and 59 taken prisoner against a Boer loss of 1 killed (Johannes 
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Bekker of Middelburg) and 5 wounded (one of which later dies). The British are humiliated, but the 
battle gives some insight into the nature of war and the relationship between the soldiers on each side. 
Lt. Hector MacDonald and a small force of 19 men hold what is today known as MacDonald’s 
Kopje. After the rest of the British are routed MacDonald orders his men to escape and he is captured 
and disarmed. His personal weapon, a sword with an elaborate engraving, is handed to General Piet 
Joubert. On reading the inscription (it mentions bravery of the officer in Afghanistan), General 
Joubert walks to the prisoner, sword in hand, and saluting him hands the sword back saying, “A man 
who has won such a sword should not be separated from it” (Mills & Williams, 2006:70). The 
historian Byron Farwell (1976), comments as follows: “Majuba, although a small affair, was 
particularly mortifying for Britain. Never before in its long history had British arms suffered such a 
humiliating defeat. A group of unsoldierly farm boys had completely routed a British force containing 
elements of the Royal Navy and regulars from some of the most famous regiments in the British 
army, and a force, moreover that was six times larger than that of the Boers and in what ought to have 
been an impregnable position”. Mills & Williams (2006:71) note that unlike the Battle of 
Isandlwana, there is no Rorke’s Drift  to compensate for the routing. It is significant that no battle 
honours are awarded to any of the British Regiments fighting at the Battle of Majuba. In an 
assessment of the Battle of Majuba, Pakenham (1991) writes, “Colley has much to answer for. He 
had disobeyed orders and prevented an armistice when he knew that one was desired by his own 
government. Before advancing on Majuba, he did not consult with his senior officers. On Majuba, by 
not bringing up his guns, or digging in or doing proper reconnaissance, he failed to protect his men 
and the ground he had taken”. Mills & Williams (2006:75) note that there are many rumours that 
Colley did not die from a Boer bullet, but committed suicide instead, because of the disgrace that 
awaited him after the battle.  This is British military dithering at its very best! 

 
23/3/81 Peace talks are held at O’Neill’s Cottage near Majuba. The Boers agree to withdraw and the British 

promise not to follow them into the Transvaal. This ends Lord Carnarvon’s vision of a confederation 
of British colonies in Southern Africa (see 1857) with two resounding defeats at the Battle of 
Isandlwana and the Battle of Majuba. The irony of these peace talks is that the war was totally 
unnecessary in the first place. Sir George Colley had been instructed not to engage the Boer forces 
(see 1/1881 and 28/1/1881), and the Boers had indicated they would have preferred not to fight (see 
16/2/1881), so both sides would have achieved their diplomatic objectives without any loss of life. 
The Boer gains from the First Anglo-Boer War (also called the First War of Independence) are 
therefore considerable and satisfying, but will be short-lived after the discovery of gold in 1886, 
triggering the devastating Second Anglo-Boer War (also called the Second War of Independence) 
(Mills & Williams, 2006:73).  

 
3/8/81 The Convention of Pretoria gives full self-government, subject only to the suzerainty of Her 

Majesty (Queen Victoria) (a concept with limited meaning according to Welsh, 2000:272), to the 
Transvaal Volksraad. The First Anglo-Boer War thus ends with victory to the Afrikaner people in a 
war they never wanted in the first place. According to James Morris (1973:74), this is the only 
occasion in the history of Queen Victoria’s Empire, that “the British negotiated a peace settlement 
from the loser’s side of the table” (Mills & Williams, 2006:61). But as with all victories against the 
British, they are short-lived, giving time only for their forces to regroup and come back for the final 
crushing blow – for this is the nature of British Imperialism as experienced in the sad history of South 
Africa.  

 
13/10/81 The Convention of Pretoria is ratified by the Transvaal Volksraad.  
 

1882 
 
1882 With the defeat of the British at the Battle of Majuba, confirmed by the Convention of Pretoria, the 

Transvaal Boers go on a spate of establishing new Republics over the next few years.  
 
1882 The Diamond Trade Act establishes a special court to protect the privileges of the diamond mine 

owners. This makes it illegal for any person to deal in diamonds.  
 
1882 The Working Men’s Association is founded in order to protect the rights of mine workers. This is 

the origin of trade union activity in South Africa.  
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1882 Cecil Rhodes draws up his second will, reinforcing his instructions stipulated in the 1877 version to 

establish a secret society in order to extend British rule globally (Meredith, 2007:382).  
 
1882 As a result of the discovery of gold in Lydenburg, there is a massive influx of foreigners to the 

Transvaal. This alarms Paul Kruger, who sets the qualification for citizenship as being five years 
residence plus the payment of a fee of 25 Pounds (Meredith, 2007:295). This action sets in place a 
key mechanism that leads ultimately to the Jameson Raid and the Second Anglo-Boer War.  

 
1883 

 
1883 The Delagoa Bay railway line is divided into concessions from Portugal and the Transvaal 

triggering the start of the railway line from Pretoria to what is present day Maputo in Mozambique.   
 
1883 The Transvaal government has a revenue stream of 188,000 Pounds (Meredith, 2007:300).  
 
2/83 Cetshwayo is allowed to return to Zululand but he has lost his power with a number of lesser Chief’s 

having been installed by the British in his absence. 
 
3/83 A debate in the British House of Commons, led by Sir Randolph Churchill, calls for the establishment 

of a force, something like the Texas Rangers, to deal with Boer “incursions” into Bechuanaland. 
 
4/83 General Gordon, seen as a British hero after his military actions in China, turns his attention to the 

Basotho. Noticing that there is sufficient social cohesion among the Basotho to be called a nation, he 
proposes a form of Indirect Rule via Chief Masupha. Gordon arranges a pitso (a meeting) with the 
Basotho General Council, where he discusses this proposal. At this critical stage, Gordon is 
redeployed to Khartoum (see 1884), failing to implement this plan. 

 
5/83 With the redeployment of General Gordon, Merriman travels to London in an attempt to convince the 

British government to impose Indirect Rule in Basutoland. The response is positive but he is 
instructed to limit costs to the British taxpayer.  

 
1884 

 
1884 The London Convention formally gives rise to the Transvaal Republic. 
 
1884 At the Berlin Conference, the European powers decide on how they are going to cut up Africa in the 

future of their respective colonial Empires.  
 
1884 Mine owners attempt to strip search workers as they enforce the Diamond Trade Act, sparking off 

labour unrest when they employ scab labour. Striking miners are fired, which causes violence as 6 
workers are killed. This is the first industrial action.  

 
1884 General Gordon (see 4/1883) is killed when his force is cut off at Khartoum and the reinforcements 

fail to arrive on time. Trouble in the British Empire  seems to be omnipresent.  
 
1884 Basutoland becomes a state with many of the characteristics of full independence, commensurate with 

General Gordon’s plan, and it remains that way until it becomes independent as the state of Lesotho 
in the 1960’s.  

 
1884 Gold is found in Lydenburg. This is alluvial gold and thus suited to panning by small operators, 

leading to a gold rush as miners from all over the world descend on the Transvaal Republic. 
Barberton rapidly becomes the largest town in the Transvaal with its own stock exchange and a 
population of around 15,000 people, mostly foreigners. A new word enters the popular Afrikaans 
language – Uitlander  – meaning “foreigner”. The political dynamics are set to change as Uitlander’s  
start to dominate the Boers numerically, financially and politically. This becomes a key driver of the 
subsequent Jameson Raid and the Second Anglo-Boer War.  
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1884 The Colonial Conference in Britain sets the foundation for the Colonial League aimed at advancing 
colonial interests.  

 
1884 John Tengo Jabavu, an Mfengu, is appointed as editor of the newspaper Imvo Zabantsundu (Views 

of the Bantu People), which is the first Black newspaper to be published in a vernacular language.  
 
2/84 Paul Kruger goes on an official tour through Europe where he meets with the Dutch King, the 

German Emperor and the French President.  
 
15/2/84 Turton Genealogy: Gysbertus Van Rooyen (Maternal 4th Great-Grandparent), son of Cornelis 

Johannes Van Rooyen and Wilhelmina Hermina Roos, having been baptized in Grahamstown on 
9/11/1798, dies at Bosfontein, District Rustenburg at the age of 85 having participated in the Great 
Trek. 

 
4/84 The New Republic established by the Transvaal Boers, arises when the Usuthu warriors (those loyal 

to the Zulu royal family) supporting Dinizulu  as the heir to Cetshwayo’s throne, are angered by the 
perceived treachery of Zibhebhu. Dinizulu  is taken into “protective custody” by a Boer organization 
called the Committee of Dinizulu’s Volunteers, and is installed as the recognized Zulu king. It must 
be remembered that the Boers have a deep interest in Zulu politics, since the murder of Piet Retief, 
and some elements of the Volk have vowed to take a future interest in all Zulu politics with the 
intention of preventing another Boer massacre. This is a strand of political history that leads to the 
establishment of a special relationship between the Zulu’s and the SADF Special Forces a century 
later, during the Armed Struggle (see Operation Marion  in 1985 and its aftermath over the decade 
of the 1990’s; but also the installation of Andries Pretorius as the Zulu Paramount Chief in 
11/1839). The Usuthu impi is given fire support by the Boers and defeats Zibhebhu, a rival of 
Dinizulu  and therefore a threat to future Boer security, at the Battle of Etshaneni (Chaneni) (see 
Welsh, 2000:279), where the casualties among the vanquished are larger than those at the Battle of 
Ulundi . Louis Botha, the future South African Prime Minister, is a veteran of the Battle of 
Etshaneni and is reported to have said that, “he had never seen so many dead men” before in his life 
(Welsh, 2000:280). 

 
8/84 Lord Gladstone is not convinced about the Transvaal issue, but his mind is diverted by the need to 

despatch a military expeditionary force to relieve Colonel Gordon at Khartoum. British military 
dithering continues unabated.  

 
7/8/84 Gladstone’s attention suddenly becomes galvanized when he hears that Chancellor Bismarck had 

announced that the whole of the coastline of South West Africa is to become Imperial German 
territory, with the small British enclave of Walvis Bay surrounded, but excluded from this sudden 
territorial expansion of a major European power.  

 
9/84 Van Plettius, the leader of the Goshen Republic, issues a decree annexing Goshen to the Transvaal 

Republic. 
 

1885 
 
1885 Dalindyebo takes over the Thembu Chieftainship from Ngangelizwe (Welsh, 2000:503). This is 

Nelson Mandela’s forefather.  
 
1885 The British anticipate that the Transvaal Republic will need to have access to a sea port, and with 

German South West Africa closing off the western seaboard, the only alternative is the eastern 
seaboard. The British annex Zululand, specifically closing off St Lucia Bay as a possible sea port for 
the Transvaal Republic. This focuses attention on the strategic need for a port close to Pretoria that 
is not controlled by the British - Delagoa Bay (Maputo) in Portuguese East Africa (Mozambique).  

 
1885 The Kimberley Central Mine  becomes the first to sink a deep shaft at great cost and high risk, to be 

immediately rewarded by an upswing in its production output by more than tenfold. The era of 
industrialized mining is born, driving a massive capital influx and placing pressure on the small 
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diggers, whose claims become uneconomical to work. It also changes the nature of the labour force as 
skills start to be differentiated.  

 
1885 De Beers starts to keep their labourers in enclosed “secure” compounds in order to control diamond 

theft.  
 
1885 General Warren is given a force made up of 4,000 volunteers and ordered to expel Boer freebooters 

that had settled in Bechuanaland, specifically in the Goshen Republic. In a meeting with Paul Kruger 
and Cecil Rhodes held at Fourteen Steams, the Transvaal President agrees to withdraw the 
annexation of the Goshen Republic, averting bloodshed. General Warren proclaims all of the lands 
to the south of 22 degrees South, and east of 20 degrees East, to be under British protection.  This 
raises the issue of control over a portion of the Molopo River that was always under the sovereignty 
of the Transvaal.   

 
1885 The British decide to grant Protectorate Status to the people of Bechuanaland. The prevailing thinking 

at the time is that this will eventually be annexed to the Cape Colony (Meredith, 2007:286).  
 
6/85 The Colonial Office becomes very unstable (see the Baring Crisis of 1890) with five heads between 

June 1885 and January 1887 (Lord Derby, Sir F.A. Stanley, Lord Granville, Edward Stanhope and 
Lord Knutsford. The latter (Knutsford) stays on until 1892. It is during this time of institutional 
instability that the Uitlander  issue becomes critical in the Transvaal, so according to Welsh 
(2000:308), British reaction such as the British South Africa Chartered Company must be 
interpreted against this background.  
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